This electronic thesis or dissertation has been downloaded from the King's Research Portal at https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/



Ventricular-Vascular Coupling And Central Arterial Pulse Pressure

Fok, Henry Wing Hang

Awarding institution: King's College London

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

END USER LICENCE AGREEMENT



Unless another licence is stated on the immediately following page this work is licensed

under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International

licence. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

You are free to copy, distribute and transmit the work

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution: You must attribute the work in the manner specified by the author (but not in any way that suggests that they endorse you or your use of the work).
- Non Commercial: You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
- No Derivative Works You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you receive permission from the author. Your fair dealings and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact <u>librarypure@kcl.ac.uk</u> providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Ventricular-Vascular Coupling And Central Arterial Pulse Pressure

Dr. Henry Wing Hang Fok King's College London

Thesis submitted for the degree of PhD

Department of Clinical Pharmacology Division of Cardiovascular Medicine King's College London London SE1 7EH

Abstract

Central pulse pressure (cPP), a product of ventricular-arterial interaction, is an important determinant of cardiovascular outcomes in hypertension. The aim of this thesis is to advance the understanding of pulsatile haemodynamics and to explore mechanisms that may selectively reduce cPP.

The conventional view is that cPP comprises a component determined by the direct interaction of myocardial contraction with the impedance of the proximal arterial tree (closely related to pulse wave velocity, PWV) and a component 'augmentation pressure' generated by pressure wave reflections from muscular conduit arteries. Surprisingly little is known regarding regulation of conduit artery tone despite its potential influence on cPP. In the first part of this thesis, muscular large arterial tone was examined using a human forearm blood flow model. Vasoactive substances were infused locally into the brachial artery and vasodilator responses of the radial artery, as a muscular conduit artery, and forearm resistance microvasculature were examined. Nitric oxide donors, in particular, glyceryl trinitrate (GTN) were found to have the most selective action on conduit arteries compared to other vasodilators. In the second part of the thesis, I examined whether the action of GTN to reduce augmentation pressure could be accounted for by this selective dilation of muscular arteries. GTN was given systemically and by intra-coronary infusion in patients undergoing cardiac catheterisation. Invasive aortic blood pressure and flow velocity were analysed in the time domain by wave intensity analysis. This allows separation of pressure into a forward component generated by myocardial contraction and a backward component generated by 'reflection' from the peripheral arterial tree. A surprising finding was that changes induced by GTN were mainly attributable to a reduction in forward rather than backward pressure waves. That this resulted from a change in myocardial contractility was confirmed by local intracoronary injection of GTN. The final part of the thesis examines the relative contribution of forward and backward pressure waves in hypertension. An elevated cPP in hypertensive compared to normotensive subjects was accounted for primarily by an increased forward pressure wave. That this was due to increased myocardial contractility was confirmed by examining whether the pattern of wave intensity seen in hypertension could be reproduced, in normotensive subjects, by the inotrope dobutamine (when compared to the vasoconstrictor norepinephrine used as a control). This thesis thus provides novel insight into a) regulation of conduit artery tone, and b) pulsatile haemodynamics, highlighting the contribution of left ventricular ejection characteristics in determining pressure augmentation and cPP.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Table of contents	4
Table of figures	6
Table of tables	7
List of abbreviations	8
Publications from this thesis	11
Statement of conjoint work	12
Acknowledgements	13
Chapter 1: Introduction	14
1.1 Hypertension	15
1.2 Components of blood pressure	15
1.3 Effects of aging on blood pressure components	16
1.4 Isolated systolic hypertension	17
1.5 Central blood pressure	17
1.6 Pulse wave analysis	
1.7 Haemodynamic interpretation of the pressure pulse	21
1.8 Selective reduction of central pulse pressure	
1.9 Aims and hypotheses	
Chapter 2: Methods	
2.1 Brachial blood pressure components	35
2.2 Venous occlusion plethysmography	35
2.3 Radial artery diameter measurements	
2.4 Pulse wave velocity measurements of the brachial-radial artery	
2.5 Intra-brachial artery drug infusion	
2.6 Invasive aortic pressure and flow velocity measurements	
2.7 Non-invasive carotid pressure measurements	40
2.8 Non-invasive aortic flow measurements	42
2.9 Waveform post-processing	
2.10 Statistics	48

Chapter 3: Regulation of vascular tone and pulse wave velocity in human muscular conduit arteries: selective effects of nitric oxide donors to dilate muscular arteries relative to resistance vessels	19
3.1 Background	50
3.2 Methods	51
3.3 Results	54
3.4 Discussion	59
3.5 Conclusion	53
Chapter 4: Augmentation pressure is influenced by ventricular contractility/ relaxation dynamics: novel mechanism of reduction of pulse pressure by nitrates	54
4.1 Background	55
4.2 Methods	56
4.3 Results	70
4.4 Discussion	78
Chapter 5: Dominance of the forward compression wave in determining pulsatile componer of blood pressure: similarities between inotropic stimulation and essential hypertensi	nts .on 33
5.1 Background	34
5.2 Methods	36
5.3 Results) 0
5.4 Discussion)2
5.5 Conclusion)4
Chapter 6: Discussion)7
References	16

Table of figures

Figure 1 Aortic blood pressure waveform	. 19
Figure 2 Types of aortic pressure waveform as described by Murgo et al	.21
Figure 3 Type A aortic pressure waveform decomposed into forward and backward pressur components	re . 23
Figure 4 Schematic diagram showing the potential targets for optimization of ventricular vascular coupling and pulse pressure reduction	.27
Figure 5 Aortic pressure and flow velocity waveforms and the components of central pulse pressure	.43
Figure 6 Aortic pressure waveform decomposed into forward and backward pressure components	.45
Figure 7 Wave intensity analysis of an aortic pressure waveform	.47
Figure 8 Effect of vasodilators on radial artery diameter and forearm blood flow	.58
Figure 9 Effect of radial artery diameter on brachial-radial pulse wave velocity	. 59
Figure 10 Central aortic pressure and flow waveforms	.66
Figure 11 Effect of sublingual nitroglycerin on central haemodynamic parameters	.71
Figure 12 Effect of sublingual nitroglycerin on aortic input impedance	.74
Figure 13 Effect of sublingual nitroglycerin on forward and backward pressure waves	.74
Figure 14 Typical wave intensity plots at baseline and after sublingual nitroglycerin	.76
Figure 15 Effect of intra-coronary glyceryl trinitrate infusion on augmentation pressure and index	1 .78
Figure 16 Wave intensity analysis of an aortic pressure waveform	.85
Figure 17 Effect of dobutamine and norepinephrine on the forward and backward pressure waves	.94
Figure 18 Effect of dobutamine on P1and P2	.95
Figure 19 Effect of norepinephrine on P1 and P2	.96
Figure 20 Comparison of P1 and P2 between normotensive controls and hypertensive subje	ects

Table of tables

Table 1 Forearm blood flow and radial artery diameter during intra-brachial artery drug
infusion
Table 2 Subject characteristics
Table 3 Haemodynamic response to intravenous glyceryl trinitrate
Table 4 Haemodynamic changes after sublingual glyceryl trinitrate
Table 5 Wave intensity analysis before and after sublingual glyceryl trinitrate
Table 6 Baseline characteristics 88
Table 7 Haemodynamic changes during infusion of dobutamine
Table 8 Haemodynamic changes during infusion of norepinephrine
Table 9 Forward and backward pulse pressure components determined using non-transformed and transformed carotid waveforms
Table 10 Haemodynamic differences between normotensive controls and hypertensive subjects

List of abbreviations

ACEi	Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor
AIx	Augmentation index
AP	Augmentation pressure
ARB	Angiotensin II receptor blockers
BCW	Backward compression wave
BCW _{1s}	Late systolic backward compression wave
bDBP	Brachial diastolic blood pressure
BEW	Backward expansion wave
BEW _{ls}	Late systolic backward expansion wave
bPP	Brachial pulse pressure
BPW	Backward pressure wave
bSBP	Brachial systolic blood pressure
c	Wave speed
CO	Cardiac output
Db	Dobutamine
ECG	Electrocardiogram
Einc	Young's elastic modulus
ESH	European society of hypertension
FBF	Forearm blood flow
FCW	Forward compression wave
FEW	Forward expansion wave
FEW _{1s}	Late systolic forward expansion wave
FPW	Forward pressure wave

GMP	Guanosine monophosphate	
GTF	Generalised transfer function	
GTN	Glyceryl Trinitrate	
h	Arterial wall thickness	
HYD	Hydralazine	
ISH	Isolated systolic hypertension	
1	Length of blood vessel	
MAP	Mean arterial pressure	
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase	
NF- _K B	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells	
NE	Norepinephrine	
NO	Nitric oxide	
NTG	Nitroglycerin	
NP	Nitroprusside	
NYHA	New York heart association	
Р	Pressure	
ρ	Blood density	
P1	Pressure at the first systolic shoulder above diastolic blood pressure	
P2	Pressure at the second systolic shoulder above diastolic blood pressure	
Pd	Pressure difference	
pGC	Particulate guanylate cyclase	
PHT	Phentolamine	
PP	Pulse pressure	
PWA	Pulse wave analysis	

PWV	Pulse wave velocity
Q	Laminar flow
r	Radius
RAD	Radial artery diameter
sGC	Soluble guanylate cyclase
SV	Stroke volume
t	Time
T _{ej}	Ejection duration
TPR	Total peripheral resistance
T _R	Timing of wave reflection
U	Flow velocity
VER	Verapamil
Zc	Characteristic impedance

Publications from this thesis

Chapter 3

Fok H, Jiang B, Clapp B, Chowienczyk P. Regulation of vascular tone and pulse wave velocity in human muscular conduit arteries: selective effects of nitric oxide donors to dilate muscular arteries relative to resistance vessels. *Hypertension* 2012; 60(5): 1220-1225

Chapter 4

Fok H, Guilcher A, Li Y, Brett S, Shah A, Clapp B, Chowienczyk P. Augmentation pressure is influenced by ventricular contractility/relaxation dynamics: novel mechanism of reduction of pulse pressure by nitrates. *Hypertension* 2014; 63(5): 1050-1055

Chapter 5

Fok H, Guilcher A, Li Y, Brett S, Jiang B, Epstein S, Alastruey J, Clapp B, Chowienczyk P. Dominance of the forward compression wave in determining pulsatile components of blood pressure: similarities between inotropic stimulation and essential hypertension. *Hypertension* 2014; 64(5): 1116-1123

Statement of conjoint work

Dr Brian Clapp performed invasive aortic pressure and flow measurements during cardiac catheterisation in chapter 4.

Dr Antoine Guilcher and Dr Sally Brett assisted in data collection in chapter 4.

Dr. Antoine Guilcher wrote the custom software for wave separation and wave intensity analyses in chapter 4 and 5.

Dr Benyu Jiang performed vascular ultrasound and echocardiography measurements in chapter 5.

Acknowledgements

The work described in this thesis was generously funded by a British Heart Foundation clinical research training fellowship.

I am grateful for the support and encouragement from all the members of staff in the department of clinical pharmacology at King's College London.

I am indebted to Dr Benyu Jiang for performing all the echocardiograms required as part of this thesis. I am also indebted to Dr Antoine Guilcher for his intellectual stimulation and helpful assistance in data processing and analysis throughout this thesis.

I am grateful to my supervisors, Professor Philip Chowienczyk and Dr Brian Clapp, who have been very supportive in both my clinical and scientific training. Their regular guidance and supervision were instrumental to the work produced in this thesis.

Finally I would like to thank my parents and my sister for providing unfailing support from the day I was born and also a special thank you to my wife, Claire. **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

1.1 Hypertension

Hypertension affecting almost 1 in 3 of the population is the major preventable risk factor for premature disability and mortality globally.^{1, 2} Symptoms are usually absent, at least in the early stages; therefore it is often underdiagnosed and undertreated despite the unequivocal evidence supporting the health and economic benefit for blood pressure lowering in hypertension.³⁻⁸ Other than lifestyle modifications such as reducing salt intake and weight management, the mainstay treatment of hypertension remains pharmacological and most antihypertensive drugs are vasodilators.⁹⁻¹¹ Early epidemiological studies confirmed the importance of elevated peripheral resistance as the hallmark haemodynamic change in hypertension¹² and unsurprisingly the diagnostic criteria and therapeutic focus was on diastolic blood pressure and peripheral resistance until relatively recently.¹³ Pharmacological research is still mainly centred on the effects of vasodilators on resistance arterioles determining peripheral resistance.¹⁴ Despite a longstanding appreciation of associations between arterial stiffening and hypertension¹⁵, the importance of aortic stiffness and systolic and pulse pressure in predicting cardiovascular outcome have only become evident from epidemiological studies in the last two decades and specific therapeutic targets for these are currently lacking.^{3, 16, 17}

1.2 Components of blood pressure

Non-invasive brachial artery blood pressure measurements form an important part of cardiovascular risk assessment in everyday clinical practice. The systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) values obtained from these measurements represent the peak and the nadir of the brachial arterial pressure waveform. An alternative way of characterising the waveform, which may offer more insight into the haemodynamics, is by steady state component, mean arterial pressure (MAP), the pressure averaged over one cardiac cycle and the pulsatile component (PP), the difference between SBP and DBP.¹⁸ SBP and PP are dependent on both MAP and DBP with the exact relation being dependent on the form of the pulse wave but MAP is closer to DBP than SBP, so that SBP is influenced more by the PP, than is DBP. PP represents the pulsatile load exerted on the heart and large arteries and increases along the length of large arteries – a phenomenon termed pulse pressure amplification.¹⁸ Thus in health brachial artery PP (and SBP) may be 20mmHg higher than the aortic SBP.¹⁹ The steady state blood pressure components DBP and MAP, however stay relatively constant with a small fall in MAP of 1-2 mmHg in the peripheral circulation.²⁰ DBP has traditionally been viewed as the most important clinical parameter in hypertension as it is closely related to total peripheral resistance (TPR), an increase in which is thought to be the hallmark of hypertension.

1.3 Effect of ageing on blood pressure components

The Framingham study showed components of blood pressure change differently with age.²¹ SBP increases approximately linearly with age. DBP, however reaches its maximum between 50-60 years and falls thereafter. Consequently pulse pressure rises steeply from this age onwards. The increase in pulsatility with ageing is thought to be principally related to arterial stiffening, in particular aortic stiffening.^{18, 21-24} The cyclical mechanical stress exerted on the proximal aorta over time is thought to lead to fracturing of elastin, abnormal deposition of collagen and calcification. This reduces the cushioning function of the aorta to store energy in systole for peripheral run off during diastole. This in part explains the continue rise of SBP and a fall in DBP with ageing.^{18, 22} In the presence of cardiovascular risk factors such as

smoking²⁵, hypertension²⁶, diabetes mellitus²⁷ and end stage renal failure²⁸, age-related aortic stiffening is thought to be accelerated, exacerbating the age-related increase in PP.

1.4 Isolated systolic hypertension

A number of epidemiological surveys of middle aged and elderly people published since the 1980s have confirmed the importance of brachial PP widening as a strong independent predictor of cardiovascular events and mortality.^{29.41} Isolated systolic hypertension (ISH), defined by the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) guidelines as DBP <90mmHg and SBP >140mmHg, is the most common type of hypertension from middle age onwards. In the NHANES III survey (The National Health And Nutrition Examination Survey) 75% of subjects with hypertension were aged over 50 years and 80% of these patients had ISH, demonstrating that widened PP is a highly prevalent in an ageing population with hypertension.⁴² Despite this there have been few therapeutic trials addressing the selective reduction in SBP and PP to reduce cardiovascular mortality. This may be due to the lack of molecules targeting specific mechanisms e.g. aortic stiffness and lack of drugs to selectively lower SBP compared to DBP.^{3, 43,44} In the context of ISH, there is a theoretical disadvantage in attempting to control systolic pressure with vasodilators, since diastolic pressure will fall thus compromising vital organ perfusion such as the coronary circulation.⁴⁵

<u>1.5 Central blood pressure (CBP)</u>

Brachial SBP (bSBP) and DBP (bDBP) measurements are the current gold standard for the diagnosis of hypertension.⁴⁶ Over the past decade emerging epidemiological data suggests that central measures of blood pressure and other CBP waveform indices taken from either

invasively measured or non-invasively derived aortic blood pressure waveform have an independent predictive value in cardiovascular risk assessment.⁴⁷ Whether CBP indices have unquestionable advantages over brachial measurements is less clear. The 2013 ESH guideline does not recommend routine measurement of central haemodynamic indices in clinical practice, except for a potential role in assessing ISH in young patients. However it acknowledges their fundamental role in aiding the understanding of the haemodynamic mechanisms and therapeutics of hypertension.¹⁰ CBP indices are potentially important in the study of pulsatile haemodynamics because central pulse pressure (cPP) is what vital organs such as the brain, the heart and the kidney are exposed to not bPP.^{18, 48, 49} Since pulse pressure amplification may vary between subjects the assessment of central pulsatility by bPP may be inaccurate.^{48, 50} Furthermore, different classes of anti-hypertensive drugs appear to have differential effects on central and peripheral blood pressure measurements with consequent impact on outcomes favouring regimes that preferentially reduce CBP.^{19, 51-55}

1.6 Pulse wave analysis

The clear advantages of using bSBP and bDBP values in clinical practice are their established use and relative ease with which they may be derived using modern oscillometric methods. However bSBP and bDBP values alone provide an incomplete characterisation of haemodynamics as they represent the peak and nadir of the pressure at the brachial artery.⁵⁶ The introduction of commercially available high fidelity tonometers has advanced the field of pulse wave analysis (PWA) a great deal as they allow non-invasive recording of an arterial pressure waveform, which can then be calibrated from bSBP and bDBP. Tonometry is usually performed at the radial artery and it has been shown that a generalised transfer function (GFT) can be applied to a radial waveform to obtain a central aortic waveform with reasonable precision. Alternatively, tonometry can be performed at the carotid artery which, because of its close proximity to the aorta, provides a waveform that closely resembles the aortic waveform. A number of indices to describe the central aortic pulse contour are shown in figure 1.



Figure 1: An aortic pressure waveform can be measured invasively or estimated noninvasively by radial tonometry via a transfer function. AP = augmentation pressure, the height above the first systolic shoulder; PP = pulse pressure; P1 = pressure at the first systolic shoulder above diastolic pressure; P2 = pressure at the second systolic shoulder above diastolic pressure; T_R = Timing of wave reflection; T_{ej} = Ejection duration.⁵⁷

These indices provide a description of the pressure pulse contour and are thought to relate to ventricular and arterial properties. P1, the first shoulder above the diastolic pressure, is thought to be generated by a forward pressure wave from left ventricular ejection. P1 also

corresponds to peak blood flow velocity within a cardiac cycle and T_R is thought to be the point at which the forward pressure wave generated by ventricular contraction coincides with a backward pressure wave caused by pressure reflected backwards from the peripheral arterial tree. Augmentation pressure (AP), the difference between pressure at the second shoulder (P2) and P1 and augmentation index (AIx), the percentage ratio of AP to cPP are thought to relate the magnitude and timing of pressure wave reflection.¹⁸ However this classic interpretation of AIx as a marker of pressure wave reflection has been challenged by a number of authors.⁵⁸⁻⁶² Regardless of the mechanism and perhaps the meaning of AIx, the index itself has been shown in a meta-analysis to have independent predictive value for cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality.⁴⁷ In addition the majority of the age-related increase in cPP is accounted for by an increase in AP and thus AP is a potential target for therapeutic intervention.^{56, 63} AP and AIx is thought to be influenced by a number of factors which include age, heart rate, height, ethnicity, aortic tapering and the pattern of left ventricular dynamics.^{18, 46, 64-71} Crucial to the accurate estimation of AP/AIx is the identification of T_R or P1. Some investigators use the first systolic shoulder to mark the period of T_R and P1 where others use the inflection point.^{18, 72, 73} The correct identification of T_{R} , P1 and AIx is further complicated by physiological variation of the aortic pressure waveform. Murgo et al⁷² have classified the contours into Types A – C.



Figure 2: Types of aortic pressure waveform as described by Murgo et al ⁷². Both type A and B waveforms are defined by P2>P1. Type A waveforms have AIx >12% and Type B have AIx 0-12%. Type C waveform is defined by P1>P2, therefore AIx is <0%.

Nichols and colleagues¹⁸ have subsequently added a Type D waveform to this classification. A type D waveform is defined by a pressure pulse in which no inflection point can be identified. Figure 2 illustrates the importance of the methodology used to identify P1 and T_R as the results can varied widely, especially for Type D waveforms.^{18, 61} Type C waveforms are commonly seen in young healthy individuals. With ageing, the contour of the waveforms appear to progress from C to A, which is thought to be principally due to stiffening of large elastic arteries but changes in left ventricular dynamics and/or microvasculature are also potentially important.^{22, 57} Type D waveforms are reported in older individuals with wide PP.¹⁸

1.7 Haemodynamic interpretation of the pressure pulse

It is clear that the pressure pulse contour contains vital information on ventricular and vascular functions and therefore much effort has been devoted to model the pressure pulse in

order to establish its haemodynamic determinants. Currently the wave propagation model ¹⁸ is the most widely accepted explanation for the pressure pulse. It is a one dimensional model describing wave travel in the forward and backward plane. A forward pressure wave (FPW), generated by left ventricular contraction travels distally along the aorta and its tributaries at a given speed termed pulse wave velocity (PWV). PWV is closely related to aortic characteristic impedance (Z_c) which determines the ratio of forward pressure wave to flow in the absence of pressure wave reflection. This relationship can be represented by a modified water hammer equation¹⁸ as:

$$Z_{c} = \frac{4\rho. PWV}{\pi. D^2}$$

Where ρ = blood density and D = vessel diameter. Since blood density remains constant Zc is mainly determined by PWV and vessel diameter (D). PWV is directly proportional to the elastic modulus of blood vessels, a measure of stiffness, as demonstrated by the Moens-Korteweg equation¹⁸:

$$PWV = \sqrt{\frac{Einc.h}{\rho.D}}$$

Where PWV = pulse wave velocity E_{inc} = Young's elastic modulus of arterial wall, h = arterial wall thickness, ρ = blood density, D = vessel diameter. It is evident from the above equations that both Z_c and PWV are closely related to the contractile status and the intrinsic stiffness of the arterial wall. As the FPW propagates along the arterial tree, it encounters a backward pressure wave (BPW) generated by wave reflection at sites of impedance mismatch within the vascular tree¹⁸. Impedance mismatch is due to elastic and geometric tapering of arteries and arterial branching sites.^{18, 72, 74} Elastic tapering corresponds to the increase in proportion of vascular smooth muscle and collagen fibres in the extracellular matrix of the arterial wall when moving distally away along the arterial tree away from the aortic root, thus smaller arteries are physiologically 'stiffer' in comparison to elastic large arteries. Geometric tapering is the gradual decrease in arterial diameter further along the arterial tree. Pressure wave reflection, therefore, does not only originate at distinct arterial branching points but is a continuous process along the arterial tree. Multiple BPW are thought to integrate to form a single combined BPW that interacts with the FPW to form the final pattern of the aortic pressure pulse.^{18, 48, 72}



Figure 3: Type A aortic pressure waveform decomposed into forward (red) and backward (blue) pressure components. The forward pressure wave generated from left ventricular contraction integrates with the backward pressure wave at early systole therefore augmenting the pressure wave to form the final aortic pressure pulse (black).

The overall pressure waveform is the sum of the FPW and BPW and can be decomposed into FPW and BPW if pressure and flow are measured simultaneously as described in chapter 2. The amplitude as well as the timing of the BPW arrival at the proximal aorta is thought to determine the type of pressure waveform.⁷² In youth the Type C aortic pressure waveform is attributed to the arrival of BPW at late systole and early diastole, hence supporting coronary perfusion pressure during diastole. An increase in PWV as a result of aortic stiffness, is thought to lead to an earlier return of the BPW in systole. This widens the cPP and changes the morphology of the waveform (from Type C to Type A) resulting in an increase in afterload and a reduction in coronary perfusion pressure.^{18, 75, 76} As mentioned previously AP, the pressure above P1 of the pressure pulse, is thought to represent the integration of FPW and BPW, hence AP is thought to be a measure of wave reflection. Moreover, the increase in AP has been shown to drive the increase in cPP with ageing and other pathological processes^{46, 71, 77, 78}, which leads to the hypothesis that pressure wave reflection is an important determinant of pulsatility within the cardiovascular system.¹⁸ In the peripheral circulation, pressure wave reflection could also potentially explain the phenomenon of PP amplification.⁵⁰ In health the geometric and elastic tapering of the vascular tree leads to a regional variation of PWV (stiffness) with distal arteries 'physiologically stiffer' than proximal arteries. This phenomenon leads to an earlier arrival of BPW in the distal muscular arteries compared to elastic arteries nearer to the heart, which results in a wider PP progressively from the aortic root towards the distal end of the muscular conduit arteries. With aortic stiffening, the magnitude of PP amplification reduces and this has also been shown to be an independent marker of cardiovascular risk in its own right.^{50, 79-} 83

Within the arterial tree, the junction of the muscular conduit arteries – and resistance arteries is proposed to be the main site of pressure wave reflection by O'Rourke and colleagues.¹⁸ This stems from the observation that a rapid rise in peripheral resistance together with a fall in pressure occur over a very short distance within this region of the arterial tree, creating a concentrated area of impedance mismatch. In addition vasodilators acting on these vessels can reduce pressure wave reflection⁸⁴⁻⁸⁸ further supporting the potential significance of this region of the vascular tree in influencing pressure wave reflection. The main anatomical site for pressure wave reflection however remains elusive. It is thought that the distal aorta could be a discrete site of pressure wave reflection. However mechanistic studies designed to localise the exact anatomical site of pressure wave reflection have so far created conflicting results with no definitive site located.^{18, 24, 58, 59, 61, 72, 89-92} This may be because the assumptions applied to the estimation of the timing and distance of effective reflection site may be too simplistic for the human vascular tree.⁹¹

The location of the site of effective pressure wave reflection is one of the many questions still to be explored regarding our current understanding of pressure wave propagation and its physiological contribution in determining pulsatile haemodynamics.⁵⁹ The other major criticism of the wave propagation model is the incomplete explanation of the interaction of the FPW and BPW during diastole and the failure to consider the Windkessel or cushioning effect of large arteries.⁹³ The traditional two element Windkessel model has been updated since it was first described by Frank to account for the shortcoming in modelling the pressure pulse during systole.⁹⁴ However, the major disadvantage of this model is its failure to incorporate wave propagation in the vascular tree and the incorrect assumption of instantaneous propagation of the pulse, which are important aspects of pulsatile haemodynamics.^{18, 94-96} A hybrid approach to reconcile different aspects of the wave

propagation and Windkessel models has been proposed by Tyberg and colleagues^{97, 98} but more experimental and/or epidemiological data will be required to validate this hybrid model.⁹⁹⁻¹⁰¹ Nevertheless it has introduced a different interpretation of pulsatile haemodynamics e.g. AIx, traditionally ascribed to being the proportion of the pressure pulse contributed by pressure wave reflection, could instead be viewed as a function of the arterial Windkessel.⁶² The specific drug target for reducing excess pulastility could therefore potentially be one that can restore optimal timing and amplitude of pressure wave reflection and/or optimise arterial Windkessel function.

1.8 Selective reduction of cPP

Vasodilators are the most widely used treatment for hypertension and heart failure. In hypertension they have been shown to improve cardiovascular outcome due to their blood pressure lowering effects, although specific class effects beyond blood pressure lowering could also be implicated.¹⁰² Their common feature is their effect to reduce peripheral resistance¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁷, once thought to be the sole haemodynamic culprit leading to hypertension. For the last two decades it has been increasingly recognised that brachial DBP control is often achievable but not SBP and PP, even under clinical trial conditions.^{3, 8, 108} Often multiple drugs are required to optimise SBP control^{4, 109} and in an attempt to optimise SBP, further resistance arteriolar vasodilatation precipitates a greater than desired fall in DBP thus potentially compromising perfusion pressure to vital organs. This is especially true in the context of ISH, the commonest type of hypertension in middle aged and elderly patients.⁴² Beside reduction in peripheral resistance, therefore, the rationale for design of new vasodilators specifically targeting PP reduction should be the ability to manipulate arterial stiffness and/or pressure wave reflection within the cardiovascular system.



Figure 4: Schematic diagram showing the potential haemodynamic targets for optimisation of ventricular vascular coupling and pulse pressure reduction.

Figure 4 shows the various components within the cardiovascular system that could potentially influence cPP. These include aortic stiffness, muscular arterial tone influencing pressure wave reflection and ventricular contraction and relaxation.

Aortic Stiffness

Arterial stiffening is an ageing process driven by a complex interaction between systemic factors and local haemodynamic forces that activate mechanical and cellular changes within the arterial wall.^{18, 110, 111} Large elastic arteries are arbitrary defined as arteries with internal diameter above 2mm and muscular large arteries with internal diameter between 150µm -2mm.²² The structural integrity of the arterial wall, which is a balance of elasticity and tensile strength is determined by the proportion of elastin to collagen in the extracellular matrix and the number of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC).^{110, 111} From the aortic root down to the distal 5cm of thoracic aorta, elastin predominates over collagen and there are relatively few VSMC within the tunica media. However, beyond this the ratio reverses with more collagen compared to elastin and proportionally more VSMC; this phenomenon continues towards the distal muscular arteries.²² Arterial stiffening is not uniform: ageing and pathological processes stiffen proximal elastic large arteries more than distal muscular large arteries.¹¹²⁻¹¹⁵ Since aortic stiffness has been shown to correlate with cPP in epidemiological studies^{42, 71}, it is thought to be a potential therapeutic target for cPP. The positive correlation between aortic PWV, a functional measure of aortic stiffness and cPP is thought to be due to the early arrival of the BPW to the proximal aorta and/or an increase in Windkessel pressure. However, the relationship is likely to be more complex as vasodilators can alter cPP without affecting aortic PWV.^{52, 63, 88, 116} A further incentive in modifying aortic stiffness is that aortic PWV had been shown to be an independent predictor of cardiovascular outcome^{117, 118}, thus it is a subject of much research interest.^{44, 119}

Arterial stiffening appears to be a result of interactions between genetic and environmental factors.¹²⁰⁻¹²² A number of risk factors have been associated with aortic stiffening but age and blood pressure are the two most important factors in predicting the

progression of aortic stiffness.¹²³ At the microscopic level, changes in the arterial wall occur mainly within the extracellular matrix and the cells it supports, especially VSMC and inflammatory cells. These changes are thought to occur in response to the autocrine, paracrine and neuroendocrine effects of excess salt and glucose and also to pulsatile stress.²², ¹¹⁰ The roles of the renin-angiotensin system and of angiotensin II and aldosterone have been widely studied. Angiotensin II and aldosterone are thought to contribute to arterial stiffening by stimulating the signalling of multiple inflammatory pathways such as tissue growth factor- β , NF- κ B and reactive oxygen species production with reduction in nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability.¹²⁴⁻¹²⁹ The inflammatory effects upset the balance between the production of proteases and their inhibitors and also promote the synthesis of advanced glycation endproducts (AGE). Matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) are proteases that are responsible for the accelerated breakdown of elastin and destruction of the molecular folding of collagen. AGE promotes the irreversible cross-linking of collagen, which together with overexpression of MMP, creates a stiff extracellular matrix. The inflammatory response also potentiates proliferation of VSMC and increased VSMC tone.¹³⁰⁻¹³² Furthermore, it is thought that chronic cyclical stress from ageing leads to elastin fracturing and thinning, which is accelerated in the presence of hypertension.¹⁸ Since production of elastin is negligible in adulthood there is an reversible decline in the ratio of elastin/collagen which stiffens the aorta.133

Aortic stiffness can be altered directly through modification of arterial properties or indirectly through change in MAP.¹³⁴ Duration of exposure to therapy may also be important as the effects on aortic stiffness may not be apparent in acute or short-term studies. A number of short term, small scale randomised controlled trials investigating the blockade/inhibition of angiotensin II¹³⁵⁻¹³⁸, endothelin¹³⁹, aldosterone^{140, 141}, phosphodiesterase V¹⁴², HMG-coA

reductase¹⁴³ have shown reductions in PWV in human studies. Since, with the exception of statins these agents mostly reduce MAP, it is difficult to establish whether there is a MAP independent effect on arterial stiffness. The AGE breaker alagebrium is the only drug studied in humans so far that directly targets a molecular mechanism of arterial stiffness. Despite promising initial results, however, alagebrium has not been studied in Phase III trials yet.^{144, 145}

Selective large artery vasodilators

The observations that cPP can be selectively lowered without alteration of aortic PWV suggest that there may be more than one mechanism to alter cPP.^{52, 63, 88, 116} Since cPP is the result of the interaction between left ventricular dynamics and aortic input impedance, vasodilators with an action on large arteries Windkessel or reservoir properties and/or pressure wave reflection could potentially alter cPP.^{146, 147} Furthermore the FPW generated by the left ventricles has been shown in epidemiological and mechanistic studies to influence cPP.^{67, 148-150} Therefore vasoactive substances with actions on left ventricular dynamics may also alter cPP.

As discussed, vasodilators with selective actions on larger arteries could theoretically reduce cPP without overt effect on steady components of blood pressure.¹⁵¹ However, relatively little is known about whether the control of vasomotor tone in large arteries differs from resistance arterioles. Previous studies in rat aortas and mesenteric arteries suggested that nitric oxide (NO) has a greater influence on the vascular tone of large arteries and potassium channels in resistance arterioles.¹⁵² More recently *in vivo* human studies have suggested that both NO and potassium channels contribute to the resting vascular tone of muscular arteries.^{153, 154} However the effect of other vasoregulatory pathways that have a major influence on resistance arteriolar tone such as renin-angiotensin-aldosterone, prostaglandin

and endothelin systems on muscular conduit artery tone is unknown. The study of drug effects on large arteries became more refined when techniques of high resolution vascular ultrasound began to mature in the early 1980s. NO donors^{147, 155}, Angiotensin receptor enzyme (ACE) inhibitors¹⁵⁶, vasodilating β -blockers¹⁵⁷ and calcium channel blockers⁴⁹ have vasodilatory effects on large arteries. However, the relative effects of these drugs on tone in large and small arteries and whether any are relatively selective for large arteries is unknown. Of particular interest is the haemodynamic effect of low dose glyceryl trinitrate (GTN), which is remarkably effective in reducing cPP mainly through its action on pressure augmentation.^{86, 116, 146} In fact it has been shown that in middle aged subjects, administration of sublingual GTN 400 µg reduced cPP by almost 30% with little effect on diastolic pressure and MAP.⁷¹ The mechanism of AP reduction is thought to be due to GTN's unique selective action on large muscular arteries.^{116, 146} However its direct effects on ventricular dynamics, arterial reservoir and resistance arterioles could also be contributory.^{86, 158-160} It is speculated that GTN lacks effects on elastic arteries due to the relatively smaller proportion of VSMC within the wall of elastic arteries compared to large muscular arteries.^{86, 88, 111} The understanding of the vasoregulatory mechanism(s) controlling the tone of muscular large arteries could therefore be potentially important.

Ventricular dynamics

Because early studies in hypertension demonstrated cardiac output to be similar in hypertensive and normotensive subjects, it has been assumed that hypertension is a problem relating to the arterial tree. Thus diastolic hypertension is thought to result from an increase in peripheral arteriolar tone and hence in total peripheral resistance that leads to an elevation in MAP and DBP. Similarly an increase in PP is thought to result from increased arterial stiffness and/or pressure wave reflection. However, because SBP occurs early in systole when only a relatively small proportion of the cardiac output has been ejected it is possible for cardiac output to remain unchanged but for the ventricular dynamics in early systole to influence the pressure pulse. Indeed, the water hammer equation described earlier means that in early systole, when there is no reflection, pressure will be determined by the product of aortic flow velocity (in turn determined by fibre shortening within the ventricle) and aortic PWV. Thus ventricular dynamics may be an important determinant of the pulsatile components of blood pressure.

1.9 Aims and hypothesis

The central hypothesis of this thesis is that vasodilation of muscular conduit arteries will reduce pressure wave reflection and hence selectively reduce AP.

Aims

1a) To explore the regulation of vascular tone in muscular conduit arteries using vasodilators with known mechanisms of action and to establish drugs that are selective for muscular conduit arteries relative to resistance vessels.

1b) To determine whether changes in PWV in muscular conduit arteries are determined by vascular tone.

2) Determine whether reduction of AP by a drug selective for muscular conduit arteries is mediated by a reduction in pressure wave reflection.

3) Determine to what extent pressure wave reflection contributes to increased pulsatility in essential hypertension.

Local infusion of drugs into the brachial artery with measurement of their effects on the radial artery as an example of a conduit artery and resistance arterioles will be used to characterise the selectivity of drugs for muscular conduit arteries and resistance vessels. Haemodynamic effects of drugs that dilate conduit arteries will be examined using wave intensity analysis and by separating central pressure waveforms into forward and backward waves. Finally, wave separation analysis will be applied to hypertensive and normotensive subjects to determine the contribution of pressure wave reflection to pulsatility in hypertension. Drugs with relatively selective actions on the ventricle and arterial tree will be used to determine to what extent pulsatility may be influenced by ventricular dynamics independent of the arterial tree.

METHODS

2.1 Brachial blood pressure measurements

Brachial blood pressure was measured using the oscillometric method and according to established guidelines¹⁶¹ and manufacturer's instructions (Omron 705CP, Omron, Japan or Intellivue MP30, Philips, Netherlands). At least 3 successive measurements were taken and averaged for the calibration of arterial tonometry measurements (see section 2.8) and for haemodynamic analysis.

2.2 Venous occlusion plethysmography

Human resistance arteriolar tone is difficult to measure directly *in vivo*. In research practice the measurement of forearm blood flow (FBF) by venous occlusion plethysmography is used to indirectly infer resistance arteriolar tone. When mean arterial pressure is stable, laminar fluid flow is proportional to the fourth power of vessel radius according to Hagen-Poiseuille's law.

$$Q = \frac{Pd.\pi.r^4}{8\mu l}$$

Where Q = laminar flow, Pd = pressure difference, r = radius, μ = viscosity coefficient, l = length of vessel/tube. Therefore changes in resistance arteriolar tone can be inferred from changes in FBF.¹⁶²

The majority of FBF measured by venous occlusion plethysmography is believed to be arterial flow within the skeletal muscles.^{162, 163} By occluding venous return at a pressure in the upper arm that does not impede arterial inflow, forearm limb volume increases proportionally with blood flow.¹⁶⁴ Change in forearm limb volume can be measured by
electrically calibrated mercury-in-silastic strain gauges, which have been shown to accurately reflect limb volume.^{162, 163, 165, 166}

Several conditions were standardised in order to ensure FBF measurements were accurate and reproducible. Studies were performed in a quiet, temperature-controlled room (24 to 26^oC). Participants were studied at approximately the same time of day, after a standardised light meal and were asked to avoid caffeine and alcohol on the day of the study. The hand circulation, which has a higher proportion of arterio-venous shunts compared to the forearm circulation, and hence more variable blood flow, was excluded by inflating wrist cuffs to a pressure above systolic blood pressure one minute before and during FBF measurements.¹⁶⁷ Circumference of the widest part of the forearm was measured with an appropriate sized strain gauge (Hokanson, USA) 2-3cm shorter than the measured arm circumference, in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. Since the relationship between FBF and forearm volume is also dependent on the degree of distension within the venous system, the forearm was elevated above the level of the heart to ensure that the veins were not fully distended and measurements were made over after the first few seconds of upper arm cuff inflation, before the veins became fully distended.

FBF measurement protocol

Participants lay supine for at least 30 minutes before measurements were initiated. Brachial blood pressure was monitored non-invasively over the left arm throughout the study (Intellivue MP30, Philips, Netherlands). The cuffs were applied to the upper arms and the wrists for venous occlusion and interruption of the hand circulation respectively. Strain gauges were applied to the widest part of the forearm as previously described. One minute before FBF measurements, wrist cuffs were inflated to 180mmHg to allow FBF to stabilize. FBF measurements were taken in both arms simultaneously by inflating the upper arm cuffs at 40mmHg to achieve venous occlusion without interruption of arterial inflow. Five FBF measurements were taken with the upper arm cuffs inflated at 10 second intervals and with a 5 second deflation period in between. Strain gauge voltage was recorded on an electronic chart recorder (Powerlab, AD instruments, Australia). FBF was calculated from the initial slope of the strain gauge vs time plot over the initial period of upper cuff occlusion when forearm volume increases approximately linearly over time as described by Whitney.¹⁶⁴

2.3 Radial artery diameter measurements

Simultaneous assessment of radial artery diameter and FBF during brachial artery infusion of vasoactive substances provides a powerful tool to probe the differential vasoregulatory pathways of muscular conduit arteries and resistance arterioles. High resolution vascular ultrasound measurements of the radial artery diameter were obtained during steady state conditions within a few minutes of FBF measurements. In order to avoid a possible influence of a reactive hyperaemic response following deflation of wrist cuff, radial artery diameter measurements were performed before each set of FBF measurements. A 10MHz ultrasound probe (Aspen, Siemens, Germany) was placed 3 to 5cm distal to the point of arterial cannulation to image the right radial artery. Once a good quality two dimensional radial artery image was acquired, the ultrasound probe was placed in a stereotactic holder with micrometer adjustment to allow precise optimisation of image quality throughout the study. End-diastolic (ECG referenced) radial artery diameter (RAD) was obtained from images acquired every 3 seconds over 2 minutes at baseline and when steady state had been achieved during drug infusion. Images were analysed off-line using automated software (Brachial analyser, Medical Imaging Applications, USA) which provided a mean diameter over a length of artery of approximately 10mm. The coefficient of variation of arterial diameter

measurements repeated at baseline and during drug infusion was 4%. The change in radial artery diameter was reported as percentage change relative to baseline.

2.4 Pulse wave velocity measurements of the brachial-radial artery

Pulse wave velocity (PWV) measurements over the brachial-radial arteries were carried out to investigate the relationship between arterial tone and stiffness of muscular large arteries. PWV was measured over the brachial to radial path from simultaneous pressure cuff recordings at each site using the Vicorder ® system (Skidmore Medical, UK). The Vicorder® device uses a modified cross-correlation algorithm for measuring transit times with a resolution of 1.8 milliseconds and the coefficient of variation of readings repeated during the course of one study was 3%. The path distance was determined using a measuring tape taken from the proximal edge of the upper arm cuff to that of the wrist cuff. Three measurements were made following radial artery diameter and FBF measurements and the average PWV was reported. Data was considered acceptable when at least five sequential good quality waveforms were obtained from each cuff.

2.5 Intra-brachial artery drug infusion

Vasoactive drugs were infused directly into the right brachial artery to probe the regulatory mechanisms of vascular tone in muscular conduit and resistance arteries in the human forearm. When infused locally, physiological or pharmacological concentrations can be achieved in the forearm circulation with negligible systemic drug delivery. This route of drug administration, therefore, avoids a systemic haemodynamic response and consequent activation of baroreceptors and other autonomic responses, which would make interpretation of the local vasodilatory responses difficult. A 27 gauge unmounted steel needle (Cooper's

Needle Works, UK) sealed with dental wax to an epidural catheter (Smiths Medical Portex ®, UK) was inserted into the right brachial artery using ≤1ml of 1% lidocaine hydrochloride (Braun Pharmaceuticals) to provide local anaesthesia. Following successful cannulation, either 0.9% saline or drugs dissolved in 0.9% saline vehicle were infused at 1ml/min using a syringe driver (Injectomat, Agilia®, Fresenius Kabi, Germany). Cumulative doses of comparator drugs were infused at each dose until steady state was achieved (typically between 6-12 minutes). Infusion of each drug was preceded by a baseline period, a washout period or studies were performed on different occasions. Brachial cuff blood pressure measurements and FBF were obtained from the non-cannulated arm to ensure there were no significant systemic responses that would influence the interpretation of the results of the FBF response to local infusion of the drugs.

2.6 Invasive aortic pressure and flow velocity measurements

Invasive aortic blood pressure and flow velocity measurements were carried out by Dr Brian Clapp during cardiac catheterisation at St Thomas' Hospital cardiothoracic unit in patients undergoing clinically indicated angiography and/or angioplasty for the investigation/treatment of coronary artery disease. Following routine preparations for angiography, vascular access to the right femoral or radial artery was established with a 6Fr haemostatic sheath. A 6Fr-guiding catheter (JL4, Boston Scientific, UK) was advanced to the aortic root over an 0.35" wire using standard techniques and connected to a closed flushing system with a haemostatic valve. All subjects were systemically heparinized with unfractionated heparin (Wockhardt, UK) to reduce the risk of thrombus formation within the catheter. A Combowire pressure and Doppler flow velocity transducer (9500XT, VolcanoCorp, USA) was passed through the guiding catheter and the tip of the wire was positioned under fluoroscopic guidance in the proximal aortic root to obtain optimal coaxial stable pressure and flow tracings. The transducer was connected to a monitor (Combomap, VolcanoCorp, USA) with an analogue output at a frequency of 1 kHz and the signals were recorded via an analogue to digital converter (Micro 1401, Cambridge electronic design, UK). Aortic root pressure and Doppler flow velocity were obtained over at least 10 cardiac cycles at baseline and following administration of drugs (see below). All measurements were taken before the administration of ionic contrast agents for the subsequent angiogram or angioplasty except for a subset of subjects receiving intra-coronary drug infusions where diagnostic coronary angiography was performed before the research study to ensure the absence of significant left main stem or critical left anterior descending coronary artery disease that could affect the distribution of drug within the left ventricle. The aortic Doppler flow velocity waveforms were integrated over time and multiplied by aortic cross-sectional area (estimated from body surface area) to obtain a measure of stroke volume and hence cardiac output and total systemic vascular resistance.

2.7 Non-invasive carotid pressure measurements

Since, invasive measurements of aortic pressure can only be obtained at the time of cardiac catheterisation, non-invasive measures of carotid pressure were used as a surrogate for aortic pressure in subjects for whom cardiac catheterisation was not clinically indicated. Although the carotid and aortic pressure waveforms are not identical they resemble each other closely both at rest and during dynamic testing with physiological manoeuvres and drugs.¹⁶⁸ Correct calibration of the carotid pulse is important due to pulse pressure amplification and the most

widely used method is to calibrate carotid pressure from brachial mean and diastolic blood pressure on the assumption of equality of these pressures at central and peripheral sites.²⁰ Apart from the same variation in waveform morphology other drawbacks of using the carotid pulse as a surrogate for the aortic pulse include the difficulty in obtaining a stable pressure tracing with applanation tonometry, the potential activation of baroreceptors and theoretical adverse effects on undiagnosed carotid plaques. However, the carotid pressure waveform has been widely used as a surrogate for the aortic pressure pulse in epidemiological studies, clinical trials and mechanistic haemodynamic studies.^{24, 54, 60, 169-171}

Measurements were performed in a quiet temperature controlled (24-26 °C) room. Subjects were asked to avoid caffeine and alcohol on the day of the study. All pressure measurements were taken supine following 20-30 minutes resting. Radial and carotid pressure waveforms were obtained by applanation tonometry using the SphygmoCor system (AtCor, Australia). Approximately 10 cardiac cycles were obtained and ensemble averaged. Waveforms that did not meet the in-built quality control criteria in the SphygmoCor system were rejected. Brachial blood pressure was measured in triplicate by a validated oscillometric method (Omron 705CP, Omron Health Care, Japan) and used to calibrate radial waveforms to obtain MAP. Carotid waveforms were calibrated from MAP and diastolic brachial blood pressure on the assumption of equality of these pressures at central and peripheral sites. Carotid pressure and aortic Doppler flow velocity (see below) were measured under the same condition less than 5 minutes apart.

2.8 Non-invasive aortic flow measurements

Ultrasound imaging was performed by Dr Benyu Jiang using the Vivid-7 ultrasound platform (General Electric Healthcare, UK). Flow velocity across the aortic valve was recorded using continuous wave Doppler obtained from an apical 5- chamber view. Stroke volume (SV) was calculated from the product of VTI and cross-sectional area of the aortic valve (obtained in the parasternal long axis view). All measurements were averaged over at least 3 cardiac cycles. Cardiac output (CO) was calculated from SV and heart rate and total peripheral resistance (TPR) from mean arterial pressure (MAP) divided by CO.

2.9 Waveform Post-processing

Aortic Doppler flow velocity and aortic/ carotid pressure waveforms were stored and analysed in Matlab (2012b, Mathworks, USA) for wave intensity, wave decomposition and pulse wave analyses. The first systolic shoulder of the aortic/carotid pressure waveform was identified as the first local minimum of the first derivative of the pressure curve (and confirmed by visual inspection) to determine P1, P2 and AP, the difference between P2 and P1. Augmentation Index (AIx) was calculated as the percentage proportion of AP to PP.



Figure 5: Aortic pressure and flow velocity waveforms and the components of central pulse pressure. P1 is the first shoulder of the waveform above diastolic pressure and AP is the difference between P2 and P1.

Pressure wave decomposition into forward and backward waves was performed using the equations derived by Euler in 1775, based on the conservation of mass and momentum. The aorta was considered as an elastic tube, blood as an incompressible and inviscid fluid and the flow was assumed to be unidimentional. These equations were solved using the method of Parker ¹⁷² and the following formulas were obtained for FPW and BPW:

$$FPW = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{T} \left(\frac{dP}{dt} + \rho c.\frac{dU}{dt}\right) dt$$
$$BPW = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{T} \left(\frac{dP}{dt} - \rho c.\frac{dU}{dt}\right) dt$$

Where *P* and *U* are the pressure and the flow velocity respectively, *T* is the foot to foot duration of a pulse, ρ is the density of blood and *c* the speed of travel of waves equal to the local pulse wave velocity (PWV). The wave speed *c* was calculated using the single point method described by Davies et al using the following formula.¹⁷³

$$c = \frac{1}{p} \sqrt{\frac{\sum dP^2}{\sum dU^2}}$$

Where *P* and *U* are the pressure and flow velocity respectively. This method of wave separation produces the same results as that performed in the frequency domain.¹⁷⁴ Separation of the pressure wave allows the individual contributions of the FPW and BPW to each of the components (e.g. P1, P2 and AP) of the pressure pulse to be determined. Since the BPW is usually regarded as the result of "reflection" of the FPW. The ratio between the peak amplitude of FPW: BPW is often used to obtain a reflection coefficient. This allowed the contribution of the forward wave and reflected wave to AP to be assessed and hence to allow the actions of vasodilator drugs in reducing AP to be examined.



Figure 6: Aortic pressure waveform decomposed into forward and backward pressure components.

Wave intensity analysis of aortic pressure

Wave intensity is the product of the first derivative of pressure and the first derivative of flow velocity¹⁷²:

$$WI = \frac{dP}{dt} \times \frac{dU}{dt}$$

Where P and U are the pressure and the flow velocity respectively. With wave intensity analysis pressure waves can be further categorized as compression or expansion (suction). Thus wave separation and intensity analysis allow waves to be characterised according to their origin (either from the ventricle for a FPW or from the peripheral circulation for a BPW) and whether that are generated by compression or suction at the point of origin. Thus a forward compression wave (FCW) is thought to be generated by the force of contraction of the left ventricle and a forward expansion wave (FEW) in early systole by the braking effect of the ventricle as it starts to relax. A backward compression wave can be generated by reflections of the FPW wave from the peripheral arterial tree. Other minor waves arise from other ventricular – vascular interactions.¹⁷²



Figure 7: Wave intensity analysis of an aortic pressure waveform in systole. FCW, forward compression wave; FEW, forward expansion wave; FEW_{1s}, late systolic forward expansion wave; BEW, backward expansion wave; BCW, backward compression wave; BCW_{1s}, late systolic backward compression wave.

2.11 Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 19. Subject characteristics were summarised as means \pm SD. Unless where stated results are expressed as means \pm SE. Comparison between groups of subjects or response to different drugs was performed using Student's paired *t*-test or by analysis of variance for repeated measures. In the cases of non-normally distributed data, a Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used. All tests were 2-tailed and P<0.05 was considered significant. The within subject coefficient of variation was used to assess reproducibility where appropriate and calculated by dividing within subject standard deviation by the mean.

REGULATION OF VASCULAR TONE AND PULSE WAVE VELOCITY IN HUMAN MUSCULAR CONDUIT ARTERIES: SELECTIVE EFFECTS OF NITRIC OXIDE DONORS TO DILATE MUSCULAR ARTERIES RELATIVE TO RESISTANCE VESSELS

3.1 Background

Human pharmacology of vasodilator drugs has focused almost exclusively on their actions on vascular smooth muscle in "resistance" vessels comprising the arterioles and microvessels less than 100 µm in diameter that determine peripheral vascular resistance and hence mean arterial blood pressure (MAP). The pulsatile component of blood pressure, which is of more prognostic importance than MAP, especially in older subjects¹⁷⁵ is, however, dependent on characteristics of large elastic and muscular conduit arteries.^{176, 177} Vasodilator drugs have little effect on large elastic arteries (other than the passive effect due to a change in blood pressure) presumably because these have little smooth muscle.¹⁷⁸ By contrast, conduit arteries are comprised mainly of vascular smooth muscle and, dependent on basal vascular tone, might be expected to be responsive to vasodilators. Conduit arteries influence the pulsatile component of blood pressure through their contribution to total arterial functional compliance or reservoir property and to pressure wave reflections.¹⁷⁹ Pressure wave reflections may be important over and above their contribution to blood pressure, since they are predictive of cardiovascular mortality independently of conventional blood pressure components.⁴⁷ The effects of wave reflections may be influenced both by artery diameter and local arterial pulse wave velocity within conduit arteries (PWV), since this PWV influences the timing and functional consequence of reflections in terms of ventricular loading.¹⁷⁹

The aim of the present study was to firstly compare the effects of different classes of vasodilator drug on arterial tone and vasodilation of the radial artery, as an example of a muscular conduit artery, and on forearm resistance vessels representative of those contributing to total peripheral vascular resistance. A second objective was to examine the relationship of local PWV within the radial artery to vascular tone and diameter. By infusing drugs locally into the brachial artery I was able to study these effects independent of any

change in blood pressure or activation of neurohormonal reflexes. I examined drugs acting through the cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) pathway: the NO donors nitroglycerin and nitroprusside acting on soluble guanylyl cyclase (sGC) and brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) acting on particulate guanylyl cyclise (pGC) as there is indirect evidence that these may exhibit relative specificity for muscular arteries.¹⁸⁰ I compared these cGMP agents to the alpha-adrenergic antagonist phentolamine that would oppose sympathetically induced tone, the calcium channel antagonist verapamil that may antagonise myogenic tone and hydralazine, a vasodilator acting through multiple pathways.

3.2 Methods

Participants

Participants were normotensive healthy men aged 19 - 53 years (mean±SD, 27.6±8.4 years). All were asymptomatic with no history of or risk factors for cardiovascular disease (mean serum total cholesterol, 4.3 ± 1.1 mmol/L and blood pressure $126\pm10/73\pm9$ mmHg) and were on no regular medication. Due to the large number of drugs examined and constraints on the duration of each intra-arterial study and number of arterial cannulations performed on each subject not all drugs could be administered to all subjects. However, as far as possible, the allocation of study drug to subjects was randomised to avoid bias. Forty subjects were studied in total with effects of each drug being studied in a minimum of 8 subjects (except as noted below for norepinephrine where n=7) and an average number of 2 drugs studied per subject. There were no significant differences in subject characteristics (age, blood pressure or serum lipids) between subjects receiving the various drugs. The study was approved by the London Westminster Research Ethics Committee, and written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Study 1: Effects of vasodilators on muscular conduit arteries and resistant arteries

Studies were performed in a quiet temperature-controlled room (24-26°C). Subjects were studied at approximately the same time of day, after a standardised light meal and were asked to avoid caffeine and alcohol on the day of the study. Subjects lay supine for at least 30 minutes before measurements were initiated. Brachial blood pressure was monitored noninvasively over the left arm throughout the study (Intellivue MP30, Philips, Netherlands). A 27 gauge unmounted steel needle (Cooper's Needle Works, UK) sealed with dental wax to an epidural catheter (Smiths Medical Portex ®, UK) was inserted into the right brachial artery using less than 1ml of 1% lidocaine hydrochloride (Braun Pharmaceuticals) to provide local anaesthesia. Either 0.9% saline or drugs dissolved in 0.9% saline vehicle were infused at 1ml/min using a syringe driver (Injectomat, Agilia®, Fresenius Kabi, Germany). Cumulative doses of comparator drugs: nitroprusside (NP, 0.3, 1, 3 µg/min, n=11); nitroglycerin (NTG. 0.03, 0.1, 0.3, 1 µg/min, n=8); nesiritide (BNP, 0.1, 0.3, 1, 3 µg/min, n=8); phentolamine (PHT, 10, 30, 100 µg/min, n=9); verapamil (VER, 10, 30, 60 µg/min, n=8); hydralazine (HYD, 10, 30, 100 µg/min, n=8) were infused for 12 min (at each dose). With the exception of NP (the infusion of which was followed by a washout period and then infusion of a second drug), the duration of action of drugs was too long to allow for more than one drug to be infused on one visit and therefore each drug was given on separate occasions.

Acquisition of radial artery diameter (RAD) and forearm blood flow measurements were carried out as described in Chapter 2. End-diastolic (ECG referenced) radial artery diameter (RAD) was obtained from images acquired every 3 seconds over 2 minutes and after 7 minutes infusion when steady state had been achieved (before measurement of forearm blood flow as described below in order to prevent cuff inflation from interfering with ultrasound images).

Following acquisition of ultrasound images, forearm blood flow (FBF) measurements were taken in both arms simultaneously by venous occlusion strain gauge plethysmography (Hokanson, USA) during the final 9-12 min of drug infusion. Wrist cuffs were inflated to 180mmHg. Upper-arm cuffs were inflated to 40mmHg intermittently and five measurements used to calculate mean FBF.

Study 2: Relationship between pulse wave velocity and muscular conduit artery diameter In this study the aim was to examine the relation between RAD and PWV irrespective of FBF. To modulate arterial tone over a wider range, I used norepinephrine (NE, 0.01, 0.02, $0.04 \ \mu g/min, n=7$) infused into the brachial artery alone and co-infused with PHT to generate beta-adrenergic mediated vasodilation (beta-adrenergic vasodilation being opposed by alphaadrenergic mediated vasoconstriction). NTG (0.03, 0.1, 0.3, $1\ \mu g/min, n=8$) was used to generate an increase in RAD. PWV was measured as described in Chapter 2 using the Vicorder ® system (Skidmore Medical, UK). The path distance was taken from the proximal edge of the upper arm cuff to that of the wrist cuff. RAD and PWV were measured at baseline and after 8 min of infusion of each dose of drug.

Characteristic impedance of the forearm vascular bed (Zc) was calculated from PWV and RAD using the relation:

$$Zc = \frac{4\rho.PWV}{\pi.RAD^2}$$

derived from the water hammer equation,¹⁸¹ where ρ is blood density. Changes in PWV were partitioned into those due to a change in the intrinsic elasticity of the arterial wall as represented by Young's incremental elastic modulus (Einc), thickness of the arterial wall (h) and RAD using the Moens-Korteweg equation:

$$PWV = \sqrt{\frac{Einc.h}{\rho.RAD}}$$

Drugs

Drugs were obtained from Baxter Healthcare (saline); Hospira Incorporation (NP and NTG); Alliance pharmaceuticals (PHT); Sovereign Medical (HYD); Abbott laboratories (VER); Scios Incorporation (BNP/Nesiritide) and Aguettant Ltd (NE).

Statistical analysis

Results are summarised as means±SEM. In order to compare effects of drugs on RAD for the same degree of action on resistance vessels, dose response curves were extrapolated, for each subject, to obtain a RAD representative of fixed absolute increments in FBF of 1, 2 and 3 ml/min/100ml. Differences between means were evaluated for statistical significance by analysis of variance ANOVA (for repeated measures whereas appropriate). SPSS version 16 was used for all statistical testing and statistical significance was considered when P<0.05.

3.3 Results

Study 1

Local intra-arterial infusion of the vasodilator drugs produced a dose-dependent increase in FBF in the infused arm with an approximate 2-3 fold increase in FBF at the highest dose

(table 1). There were minor or non-significant changes in FBF in the non-infused control arm (table 1) indicating that local effects in the infused arm were unlikely to be influenced by changes in systemic haemodynamics.

Table 1 Forearm blood flow (FBF) in infused and non-infused arms (con) and radial artery diameter (RAD) in infused arm during brachial artery infusion of vasodilator drugs

Vasodilators	FBF _{infused}	FBF _{con}	RAD _{infused}
			(11111)
Phentolamine (n= 9)			
Vehicle	3.56±0.43	1.91±0.18	2.52 ± 0.08
10 μg/min	5.21±0.39†	2.34±0.26	2.59±0.07
30 µg/min	6.26±0.58†	2.16±0.28	2.60±0.06
100 µg/min	6.91±0.57†	2.21±0.2	2.61±0.07
Verapamil (n= 8)			
Vehicle	2.66±0.35†	2.56 ± 0.28	2.64±0.21
10 µg/min	5.23±0.58†	2.60 ± 0.25	2.81±0.22†
30 µg/min	7.65±1.01†	2.83 ± 0.32	2.80 ± 0.22
60 μg/min	9.46±1.01†	3.3±0.43†	2.88±0.23*
BNP (n= 8)			
Vehicle	3.29 ± 0.50	3.33 ± 0.58	2.49±0.11
0.1 µg/min	3.53 ± 0.70	2.83±0.15	2.60±0.10
0.3 µg/min	4.39±0.57*	2.73±0.15	2.69±0.10*
1 μg/min	6.26±0.86†	2.78 ± 0.3	2.75±0.10*
3 µg/min	7.56±1.00†	2.56±0.15	2.81±0.11*
Hydralazine (n= 8)			
Vehicle	3.42±0.61	2.21±0.25	2.33±0.14
10 µg/min	4.72±0.62†	2.26 ± 0.28	2.48±0.16*
30 µg/min	7.39±0.87†	2.46±0.33	2.64±0.17†
100 µg/min	13.2±1.66†	3.26±0.56*	2.76±0.19‡
Nitroprusside (n= 11)			
Vehicle	3.25 ± 0.24	2.74 ± 0.37	2.41±0.11
0.3 µg/min	5.22±0.46†	2.56 ± 0.2	2.78±0.10
1 μg/min	7.30±1.00†	2.89 ± 0.29	2.89±0.10*
3 µg/min	9.31±1.05†	2.78±0.31	2.96±0.11†
Nitroglycerin (n= 8)			
Vehicle	3.10±0.37	2.84 ± 0.44	2.59 ± 0.07
0.03 µg/min	3.66±0.45*	2.43 ± 0.29	2.95±0.67†
0.1 µg/min	4.38±0.48*	2.48±0.43	3.11±0.09†
0.3 µg/min	4.50±0.43†	$1.94{\pm}2.41$	3.22±0.09‡
1 μg/min	6.29±0.55‡	2.5 ± 0.27	3.28±0.09‡

* P < 0.05, † P<0.01, ‡ P<0.0001 compared to vehicle.

With the exception of PHT, all vasodilators produced a significant increase in RAD in the infused arm. However, effects on RAD differed between the drugs. This was more marked when effects on RAD were compared for a given increase in FBF (figure 1). PHT, VER and BNP produced relatively little dilation (mean dilation < 9%). NTG and to a lesser extent NP produced greater dilation (figure 1, P<0.01 and P<0.05 compared to PHT). For the lowest increase in FBF of 1 ml/min/100 ml, dilation was 1.5 ± 1.0 , 7.8 ± 1.6 and $15.8\pm3.2\%$ for PHT, SNP and NTG respectively (P<0.01 for NTG vs. PHT) and at the highest increase in FBF of 3 ml/min/100ml, 3.4 ± 1.4 , 16.8 ± 2.6 and $26.0\pm3.5\%$ for PHT, NP NTG respectively (P<0.0001 for NTG vs. PHT and P<0.001 for NP vs. PHT). HYD produced an intermediate degree of dilation and the order of efficacy to dilate the radial artery was: NTG>NP>HYD>BNP>VER>PHT, irrespective of the increase in FBF at which actions on RAD were compared (figure 8).



Figure 8

Increase in radial artery diameter compared at doses of drugs that produce the same increase in forearm blood flow (FBF). ** P<0.01 compared to phentolamine, verapamil and BNP. *P<0.05 compared to phentolamine. Bars represent mean values; error bars are SEM, n=9, 8, 8, 8, 11 and 8 for phentolamine, verapamil, BNP, hydralazine, nitroprusside and nitroglycerin respectively.

Study 2

NE (0.04 μ g/min) reduced RAD by 11.4 \pm 4.1% but when co-infused with PHT (100 μ g/min)

increased RAD by 5.8±3.5%. NTG (1µg/min) increased RAD by 32.1±5.4%. Over this range

of modulation of vasodilator tone, changes in PWV and Zc were closely related to those in

RAD. Changes in RAD of 20% equated to changes in PWV and Zc of ~5% and ~-50%

respectively (figure 2, R= -0.89, P<0.05 for PWV; R= -0.99, P<0.001 for Zc).



Figure 9

- a) Relation between changes in radial artery pulse wave velocity (PWV) and diameter during modulation of arterial tone with nitroglycerin (NTG, n=8), phentolamine (PHT, n=8), norepinephrine (NE, n=7) alone and with PHT (n=7). Each symbol represents mean values for each dose of drug. The solid line is the line of best fit by linear regression; Pearson correlation coefficient, R=-0.89, P<0.05.
- b) Relation between change in local characteristic impedance (Zc) and radial artery diameter during modulation of arterial tone as in (a). R= -0.99, P<0.001.

3.4 Discussion

To my knowledge, this is the first study to systematically examine the effects of different classes of vasodilator drugs on both muscular arteries and resistance vessels. For the same degree of forearm resistance vessel dilation, the vasodilator drugs studied differed widely in their effects on RAD. The NO-donors NTG and NP acting through sGC had marked vasodilator effects on the muscular artery with NTG significantly more effective than NP. NTG produced a > 20% increase in RAD. The functional consequences of such an increase in diameter result from the change in local Zc influencing the local dynamic pressure/flow relation with greater initial flow and hence shear stress for a given pressure and a reduction in

pressure wave reflection. Assuming no change in intrinsic arterial elasticity, Zc is proportional to RAD^{-2.5} and therefore a 20% increase in RAD will produce an approximate 50% reduction in Zc. By contrast to NTG and NP, BNP, acting through pGC rather than sGC, had less effect than either NTG or NP. Differential effects of the NO-donors could relate to variation in the NO species released (e.g. different redox states and/or thiol intermediates) with potential actions on potassium channels and mechanism other than cGMP. Differences between the sGC and pGC activators could be due to spatial compartmentalisation of cGMP production - whereby a higher concentration of cGMP accumulates close to the sarcolemma when activated by sGC in the cytosol as opposed to membrane bound isoform pGC.^{182, 183}

The marked vasodilator effects of NTG demonstrate that there is considerable resting tone within muscular arteries. This could be sympathetically mediated (as in resistance vessels), due to an intrinsic "myogenic" response (not necessarily causing vasoconstriction in response to an increase in transmural pressure but an increase in tone) or another mechanism. Despite producing similar effects on resistance vasculature to NTG and reversing constriction produced by the alpha-adrenergic agonist NE, the alpha-adrenergic antagonist PHT had relatively little effect on muscular artery diameter. This suggests there is little sympathetically mediated resting tone within these muscular arteries. The myogenic response is thought to be mediated in part through calcium channels and, in some vessels, is inhibited by the L-type calcium channel blocker VER.¹⁸⁴ In the present study, however, I found that whilst VER dilated resistance vessels with similar efficacy to PHT, it had only minor effects on the muscular artery. Thus if a myogenic response is implicated in resting tone within muscular arteries it is likely that this is mediated through a mechanism other than L-type calcium channels but which is functionally or directly antagonised by an NO donor. In this regard it is notable that NO-donors reduce myogenic tone in rat arteries by a mechanism thought to involve activation of calcium-dependent potassium channels.¹⁸⁵

A second objective of my study was to examine the relationship between arterial vasodilator tone and local PWV in the radial artery. Previous studies have demonstrated that PWV is influenced by NO, with PWV increased or reduced by inhibition or stimulation of NO synthase respectively¹⁸⁶ and decreased by administration of an exogenous NO donor.¹⁸⁷ However, it is unlikely that these findings relate to a specific effect of NO on arterial elasticity and PWV may simply relate to arterial smooth muscle tone irrespective of the signalling pathway through which this is modulated. In the present study I altered arterial vasodilator tone over a wide range, using NE to constrict the artery, PHT to antagonise the actions of NE on alpha-adrenergic receptors and thus dilate the artery through its unopposed vasodilator actions on beta-adrenergic receptors and NTG as an NO donor and dilator. Changes in PWV were closely related to those in arterial diameter, irrespective of the vasoactive drug used to modulate arterial tone. This suggests that, under physiological conditions, PWV in muscular arteries is determined by smooth muscle tone rather than being influenced by a specific signalling pathway. Since PWV is known to be dependent on transmural pressure,¹⁸⁷ this finding is consistent with arterial tone in muscular arteries being generated mainly as an intrinsic 'myogenic' response to transmural pressure. Although a measure of 'arterial stiffness', PWV may be influenced both by arterial diameter and the intrinsic elasticity of the arterial wall. The Moens-Korteweg equation allows change in PWV to be partitioned into that due to the change in Einc.h and RAD, with the percentage change in PWV predicted to be 50% of that arising from change in RAD if Einc.h remains constant. Figure 2 shows that the percentage change in PWV was ~25% of that in RAD suggesting that Einc.h increases. Since an increase in RAD necessarily implies a reduction in h as the wall is stretched, my results suggest a paradoxical increase in Einc. This behaviour exemplifies the complex relations between local geometry, wall stiffness and PWV.^{187, 188}

The clinical relevance of my findings relates to the potential to selectively reduce tone of muscular arteries, with the resultant vasodilatation and decrease in PWV reducing pressure wave reflection and delaying the time of its arrival in systole; actions that will reduce systolic blood pressure and pulse pressure.⁸⁶ Selective vasodilatation of muscular as opposed to resistance vessels means that diastolic pressure will be relatively unaffected. Such haemodynamic effects are likely to be of particular benefit in subjects with isolated systolic hypertension in whom myocardial wall stress and oxygen consumption are elevated due to raised systolic pressure but in whom a reduction of diastolic pressure in parallel with systolic pressure may compromise myocardial perfusion during diastole.¹⁸⁹ It is notable that NTG is remarkably effective at reducing systolic pressure (particularly central systolic pressure¹⁹) with little effect on diastolic pressure.^{63, 190, 191} The present results suggest that, of currently available vasodilator agents, NO donors show the greatest selectivity for muscular arteries. Furthermore the heterogeneity between NO donors suggests that this is dependent on the exact NO-signalling pathway and that there may be potential to exploit this to enhance the selectivity of these agents to dilate muscular arteries. In this regard it is notable that the NO donor sinitrodil can increase compliance of the brachial artery without effects on systemic vascular resistance.¹⁴⁷ It should be noted that the present study provides insight into local regulation of arterial tone and PWV in muscular arteries in the absence of changes in systemic haemodynamics or neurohormonal activation. Such changes, such as a reduction in mean arterial pressure, for example, may result in a secondary reduction in arterial diameter. There is, therefore, no substitute for systemic studies to assess overall haemodynamic effects of vasoactive drugs acting on muscular arteries.

3.5 Conclusion

Whilst the regulation of vascular tone in resistance vasculature has been studied extensively, relatively little is known regarding that in muscular conduit arteries. Such tone in muscular arteries is likely to be important since it influences systemic haemodynamics through effects on the functional compliance of the arterial tree and on pressure wave reflection. The present study suggests that, under resting conditions, the tone of muscular arteries is largely independent of sympathetic outflow acting on alpha-adrenergic receptors but is generated as a myogenic response to transmural pressure. NO donors appear highly effective at antagonising such resting tone with greater action on muscular arteries relative to resistance vessels than calcium-channel antagonists. However, there is considerable heterogeneity between drugs acting through the NO-cGMP pathway in their selectivity for muscular arteries. This suggests that there is the potential to design drugs acting through this pathway which dilate muscular arteries but have minimal effects on resistance vasculature and which would be useful in treating systolic hypertension.

In conclusion, the smooth muscle tone of conduit arteries that determines arterial diameter and PWV is likely to generated by an intrinsic myogenic response to transmural pressure and, for an equivalent action on resistance vessels, is functionally or directly antagonised by NO-donors more effectively than by alpha-adrenergic or calcium channel blockade.

63

AUGMENTATION PRESSURE IS INFLUENCED BY VENTRICULAR CONTRACTILITY/ RELAXATION DYNAMICS: NOVEL MECHANISM OF REDUCTION OF PULSE PRESSURE BY NITRATES

4.1 Background

Aortic or central pulse pressure (cPP) determines the pulsatile load on the left ventricle, coronary and carotid arteries and is a major risk factor for adverse cardiovascular events, with at least as strong a relation to such events as peripheral pulse pressure.^{47, 51, 192} cPP is widely assumed to be determined by the interaction of an outgoing forward pressure wave (FPW) generated by ventricular contraction and a backward going pressure wave (BPW) due to reflections from the periphery of the circulation.^{18, 193} These components of cPP are separated by the first systolic shoulder of the aortic pulse (figure 10). The height of this above diastolic blood pressure (P1) is attributed to the FPW and the height above P1, the augmentation pressure (AP), to the BPW.¹⁹⁴ Augmentation index (AIx), the ratio of AP to cPP is widely used as a measure of "pressure wave reflection". This interpretation has, however, been criticised because of the poor relationship between the magnitude and timing of reflected waves with respect to AP.^{60, 61} Nitroglycerin (NTG) has a particularly marked action to reduce AP and hence cPP attributed to a reduction in timing or amplitude of pressure wave reflections^{19, 86, 146} However, an alternative explanation relates to an influence of nitrovasodilation on contraction-relaxation dynamics of the myocardium, effects observed in isolated myocytes and in vivo.^{158, 159}

The aim of the present study was to determine the mechanism by which AP is selectively reduced by nitroglycerin (NTG). I made simultaneous measurements of aortic pressure and flow and used wave intensity analysis to separate pressure waves into FPW and BPW components.¹⁷² Pressure waves were further categorized as compression or expansion (suction). A primary forward compression wave (FCW) arises from the "push" of the ventricle against the arterial tree and a systolic backward compression wave (BCW) from the push of the arterial tree against the ventricle. A late systolic forward expansion wave (FEW)

arises from the braking effect of the ventricle in late systole.¹⁹⁵ These measurements together with cardiac output and the impedance of the arterial tree were obtained at baseline and after systemic administration of NTG. To further distinguish between effects of NTG related to an action on the myocardium and arterial tree, I examined effects of intracoronary infusion of NTG at a dose below the threshold required to produce systemic effects.



Figure 10

Central aortic pressure and flow waveforms showing components of central pulse pressure (cPP), height above diastolic pressure of the first shoulder of the aortic pressure waveform (P1) and augmentation pressure (AP).

4.2 Methods

Subjects (n=30, 11 women, mean \pm SD age 61 \pm 13 years) were recruited from those attending

Guy's and St Thomas' cardiothoracic unit for diagnostic angiography or elective

percutaneous coronary angioplasty. Subjects with acute coronary syndromes, those with

significant valvular disease, heart failure of severity greater than NYHA grade 2 and rhythm other than sinus rhythm were excluded. Subject characteristics including medication are shown in table 2.

Table 2 Subject characteristics

Characteristic	Study 1 (n = 20)	Study 2 (n = 10)
Age (years)	63±11	57±17
Sex (men/women)	10/10	9/1
Diabetes mellitus (%)	30	40
Aortic systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	136±23	139±39
Baseline diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	73±13	69±8.3
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	28±8.6	28±3.1
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	4.5±1.2	5.0±0.2
High density lipoprotein (mmol/L)	1.2 ± 0.5	1.0±0.3
Drug treatment		
ACEI/ARB (%)	45	70
β-blocker use (%)	45	40
CCB (%)	30	50
Nitrate (%)	20	10

ACEI, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor; ARB, angiotensin receptor blocker; CCB, calcium channel blocker.

Study 1 Central haemodynamics and response to systemic nitroglycerin

Invasive blood pressure and flow measurements were carried out as described in chapter 2. Baseline measurements of aortic root pressure and Doppler flow velocity were obtained over at least 10 cardiac cycles. Repeat aortic pressure and Doppler flow velocity measurements were taken following administration of GTN at a sublingual dose of 800µg. Repeat haemodynamic data were taken at the same position at the proximal aortic root, at least 2 minutes after GTN administration and when haemodynamic responses were stable. All measurements were taken before the administration of ionic contrast agents for the subsequent angiogram or angioplasty.

Study 2 Central haemodynamic response to intracoronary nitroglycerin

Preparation and measurements of central haemodynamic response to intracoronary nitroglycerin were carried out as described in chapter 2. A diagnostic coronary angiogram was performed prior to the research study to ensure the absence of significant left main stem or critical left anterior descending coronary artery disease that could affect the distribution of nitroglycerin within the left ventricle. Baseline pressure and flow measurements were obtained from the Combowire in the aortic root as described above. The guiding catheter was then advanced to the left coronary ostium for NTG (Hospira Incorporation) infusion at 1μ g/min. This dose was determined by previous studies that found no significant systemic effects when NTG 1µg/min was infused locally into the brachial artery¹⁹⁶ and by dose ranging studies where intravenous NTG infusion at 3µg/min was found to be the threshold dose above which systemic effects on aortic waveform indices (table 3). After a 7 minute infusion of NTG, the guiding catheter was pulled back into the proximal aortic root and Combowire re-positioned in the aortic root with fluoroscopic screening used to ensure position of the Combowire was similar to that at baseline (this taking approximately 1 minute). Measurements of pressure and flow were then repeated as previously described. In 4 subjects following the placement of Combowire in the proximal aortic root for continuous pressure/ Doppler flow velocity measurements, a separate guiding catheter was inserted via a second vascular access in the contra-lateral femoral artery to simultaneously infuse NTG over 7 minutes into the left coronary ostium.

Measure	Baseline	Nitroglycerin 1 µg/min	P value
Heart Rate (min ⁻¹)	63±4	68±3	0.29
cSBP (mmHg)	139±12	137±11	0.91
DBP (mmHg)	69±3	74±3	0.23
MAP (mmHg)	97±5	100±5	0.70
AIx (%)	31±6	22±5	0.41

Table 3 Haemodynamic response to intravenous NTG 1µg/min at systemic dose ranging studies

cSBP, central systolic blood pressure; cDBP, central diastolic blood pressure; MAP, mean arterial pressure; AIx, augmentation index obtained by carotid tonometry.

Waveform Post-processing

This was carried out as described in chapter 2 (Section 2.11). Aortic flow velocity waveforms were integrated over time and multiplied by aortic cross-sectional area (estimated from body surface area) to obtain a measure of stroke volume and hence cardiac output and total systemic vascular resistance.

Statistics

Unless where stated results are expressed as means \pm SE. Changes from baseline in haemodynamic measures after NTG were compared using Student's paired *t*-test or by analysis of variance for repeated measures. In the case of non-normally distributed data (heart rate, pulse wave velocity and FEW), a Wilcoxon signed rank test was used. All tests were 2tailed and P<0.05 was considered significant.

4.3 Results

Contributions of FPW and BPW to AP

Decomposition of the aortic pressure wave demonstrated that P1 was almost entirely due to the FPW and that the BPW contributed only a minor component to P1 (mean contributions at baseline of 37.1 ± 2.8 and 1.6 ± 1.1 mmHg respectively, figure 11). The FPW also provided the major contribution to AP, although the BPW also provided a significant contribution (mean contributions of 15.6 ± 2.9 and 11.0 ± 2.8 mmHg for the FPW and BPW respectively, figure 11).



Figure 11

a) Central (aortic) pulse pressure (cPP) and the components of cPP: height of the first systolic shoulder above diastolic blood pressure (P1) and augmentation pressure (AP), the increment of peak aortic pressure above P1 before and after sublingual nitroglycerin (NTG, n=20).
b) AP and AP decomposed into components attributable to the forward pressure wave (AP_{FPW}) and backward pressure wave (AP_{BPW}) before and after sublingual nitroglycerin (NTG, n=20).

c) Augmentation index (AIx, the ratio of AP to cPP) and AIx decomposed into components attributable to the forward pressure wave (AIx $_{FPW}$) and backward pressure wave (AIx $_{BPW}$) before and after nitroglycerin (NTG, n=20).

Effects of systemic NTG on haemodynamics and pulse pressure components

Systemic administration of NTG had no significant effect on P1 but reduced AP by 12.8 ± 3.1 mmHg (from 26.1 ± 3.1 to 13.3 ± 2.6 mmHg, P<0.0001, figure 11) and reduced cSBP and cPP by similar amounts (from 136 ± 5 to 127 ± 6 mmHg and from 63.0 ± 4.0 to 51.3 ± 3.9 mmHg respectively, each P<0.01). AIx decreased by $17.3\pm3.0\%$ (from 39.5 ± 3.6 to $22.2\pm5.0\%$, P<0.0001). By contrast, NTG had no significant effect on mean arterial blood pressure, total peripheral resistance, or on aortic PWV (table 4). There was a non-significant trend to an increase in heart rate of 4 beats/min and decrease in stroke volume of borderline significance (table 4). The phase and modulus of the aortic input impedance did not change significantly after NTG but there was a trend for a phase shift to the left (figure 12).

Measure	Baseline	NTG	Difference	95%CI	P value
Heart rate (min ⁻¹)	64±2	68±3	4.33 ± 1.43	1.34 to 7.32	0.06
Blood pressures					
cSBP (mmHg)	136±5	127±6	-8.31±2.47	-13.5 to -3.14	< 0.01
cDBP(mmHg)	73±3	76±3	3.35±1.93	-0.686 to 7.39	0.10
MAP(mmHg)	99±3	98±4	-0.67 ± 2.26	-5.39 to 4.05	0.77
Pulse pressures					
P1 (mmHg)	36.9±2.6	37.2±2.9	0.28±1.77	-3.43 to 3.99	0.21
AP (mmHg)	26.1±3.1	14.1±2.4	-12.8±1.93	-16.9 to -8.77	< 0.0001
cPP (mmHg)	63.0±4.0	51.3±3.9	-11.7±1.50	-14.8 to -8.52	< 0.0001
Augmentation Index (%)	39.5±3.6	22.2±5.0	-17.3±3.00	-23.6 to -11.0	< 0.0001
Aortic PWV (m.s ⁻¹)	11.6±1.1	10.6±0.9	0.95±0.55	-2.11 to 0.203	0.57
Stroke volume* (ml)	88.5±5.3	81.0±4.5	-7.44±3.56	-14.9 to 0.004	0.05
Cardiac output* (L.min ⁻¹)	5.6±0.3	5.4±0.3	-0.17±0.26	-0.708 to 0.361	0.51
TPR* (mmHg.L ⁻¹ .min)	18.4±0.96	18.5±0.82	0.03±0.76	-1.56 to 1.63	0.96

Table 4 Haemodynamic changes after sublingual nitroglycerin

cSBP, central systolic blood pressure; cDBP, central diastolic blood pressure; MAP, mean arterial pressure; P1, pressure at the first systolic shoulder of pressure pulse; AP, augmentation pressure; cPP, central pulse pressure; PWV, pulse wave velocity; TPR, total peripheral resistance. *These values were computed from an estimate of aortic root area assumed to remain constant after NTG





Average modulus a) and phase b) of aortic input impedance at baseline and after sublingual nitroglycerin (n=20).



Figure 13

Typical aortic pressure waveforms decomposed into forward and backward pressure waves at baseline and after nitroglycerin (NTG). The major effect of NTG is to reduce the forward wave after the first systolic shoulder, the time of peak systolic stress. Corresponding flow wave is shown in figure 10.

Effects of systemic NTG on FPW and BPW components of AP and on pressure wave intensity amplitudes, timings and energies

The reduction in AP after NTG was explained by a reduction of 7.0 ± 2.4 mmHg (from 17.4 ± 3.8 to 10.4 ± 2.9 mmHg, P<0.02) in the FPW and a reduction in the BPW of 5.8 ± 1.3 mmHg (from 8.6 ± 1.9 to 2.8 ± 1.5 mmHg, P<0.01, figures 11 and 13). The reflection coefficient as defined as the ratio of the maximum amplitude of the FPW to BPW did not change significantly after NTG (0.28 ± 0.02 to 0.27 ± 0.02 , P=0.410). An example of a wave intensity plot before and after NTG is shown in figure 14. Average values of maximum wave intensities, timings (of maximum intensities) and wave energies for the FCW, BCW and FEW before and after NTG are shown in table 4. Amplitude of the BCW but not the FCW decreased after NTG whereas energy of both the FCW and BCW were reduced after NTG and the ratio of BCW/FCW energy was unaltered. There was a small but significant reduction in time to the FEW after NTG but timings of other waves remained similar before and after NTG (table 5).





Typical wave intensity plots at baseline and after NTG.

Measure	Baseline	NTG	P value
Wave Intensity (W.m ⁻² .s ⁻² x 10^6)			
FCW	0.50 ± 0.066	0.48 ± 0.063	0.58
FEW	0.17 ± 0.025	0.16 ± 0.030	0.95
BCW	0.084 ± 0.013	0.060 ± 0.0091	< 0.005
BCW:FCW	0.19 ± 0.026	0.14 ± 0.018	< 0.01
Wave Timing (ms)			
FCW	59.0±7.43	56.5±7.07	0.33
FEW	314±14.0	304±9.24	0.03
BCW	181±16.2	175±19.0	0.62
Wave Energy $(J.m^{-2} x 10^6)$			
FCW	0.045 ± 0.0043	0.039 ± 0.0041	< 0.001
BCW	0.011 ± 0.0012	0.0084 ± 0.00094	< 0.005
BCW:FCW	0.25 ± 0.021	0.22±0.23	0.25

 Table 5 Wave intensity analysis

FCW, forward compression wave; FEW, forward expansion wave; BCW, backward compression wave

Effects of intra-coronary NTG on AP

There was no significant change in cSBP, MAP, P1 or heart rate after intra-coronary NTG (1 μ g/min for 7 min, data not shown). However intra-coronary infusion of NTG reduced AP by 8.3±3.1 mmHg (from 27.6 ± 9.7 to 19.2 ± 8.4 mmHg, P<0.05, figure 15) and reduced AIx by 9.3% (from 31.0± 6.5 to 21.7 ± 5.6%, P<0.05). Effects of intra-coronary NTG on FPW and BPW components of AP and AIx did not reach statistical significance but there was a trend for a reduction in the FPW components of AP and AIx (P=0.17, and P=0.08, respectively) but not the BPW components of AP and AIx (P=0.50, and P =0.96). Thus the reduction in AP and AIx by intra-coronary NTG was potentially explained by an effect on the FPW alone.



Figure 15

a)

Augmentation pressure and augmentation index before and after intra-coronary infusion of NTG (1 μ g/min, n=10).

4.4 Discussion

AP accounts for the much of the inter-subject variability in cPP⁷¹ and an increase in AP is the major cause of the age-related increase in cPP.⁶³ AP has, hitherto, been attributed to augmentation of the FPW (which determines P1) by the BPW, the BPW being attributed to wave reflection. However, the interpretation of AP as an index of reflection assumes that the FPW plateaus at P1 and has been criticised because of the poor relationship between the magnitude and timing of reflected waves with respect to AP.^{60, 61} Although I observed a significant contribution of the BPW to the AP, the major contribution to AP derived from the FPW with the contribution of the FPW to AP being approximately twice that of the BPW.

This suggests that AP is in large part independent of processes such as pressure wave reflection or other haemodynamic effects that may influence the BPW.

NTG is markedly effective in reducing AP, an effect that has been attributed to dilation of conduit arteries and a change in magnitude and/or timing of wave reflections,⁸⁶ In the present study, systemic administration of NTG at a dose that dilates conduit arteries by between 10 to 20% ⁶³ reduced AP by more than 46%. The aortic pressure wave is determined by the interaction of ventricular contraction with the input impedance of the aorta and more distal circulation as "seen" at the aortic root (the point of pressure recording). Thus a reduction in AP could, in principle, result from a change in myocardial contraction/relaxation and/or change in input impedance. With the relatively low dose of NTG that was used, I observed no significant change in the modulus or phase of the impedance but there was a trend to a shift to the left of the phase of the impedance in keeping with previous observations which have been attributed to a delay in reflections.¹⁹⁷ To probe the haemodynamic determinants of this effect of NTG on AP further, I performed waveform decomposition before and after NTG. The reduction in AP was only partially explained by the BPW with the reduction in the FPW component of AP contributing proportionately more than that of the BPW to the total reduction in AP. Furthermore, the ratio of the BPW to the FPW, whether measured as the ratio of the maximum amplitudes of the waves or as ratio of wave energy in FCW and BCW, did not change significantly after NTG suggesting that most of the reduction in the BPW was secondary to that in the FPW.

Since P1 occurs at the time of peak systolic stress (i.e. peak contraction in individual myocytes) in the myocardium,¹⁹⁸ the reduction of the FPW component of AP but not of P1 by NTG implies an earlier or more pronounced relaxation of the myocardium after peak stress. The observation that wave maximal wave intensity of the FCW which occurs before P1 is unaltered but FCW energy which includes components after P1 during augmentation is reduced is consistent with a reduction of the forward wave during pressure augmentation. Earlier onset of the FEW is consistent with earlier onset of relaxation of the ventricle. It is notable that sodium nitroprusside, a NO donor thought to act through the same downstream cGMP effector pathway as NTG delivered locally into the coronary circulation with negligible systemic delivery to the peripheral circulation, hastens the onset of relaxation of the ventricle^{159, 199} and a similar effect is seen in isolated myocytes exposed to NO¹⁵⁸ or to cGMP mimetics acting downstream of the NO-soluble guanylyl cyclase pathway.¹⁹⁹

To test the possibility that the effect of NTG to reduce the FPW component of AP relates to myocardial contraction/relaxation, NTG was injected directly into the left coronary circulation at a dose below that observed to generate systemic effects when given intravenously and approximately 50 fold lower than that used to achieve systemic effects in the present study (assuming bioavailability of sublingual NTG to be approximate 35%^{67, 200}). I observed a significant, albeit less pronounced, effect on AP. This is consistent with an influence of NTG on the FPW component of AP through a direct action on the myocardium to hasten the onset of relation after P1. However, delivery of NTG through the myocardial circulation to the central venous return (via the coronary sinus) may result in a relatively greater concentration in pulmonary vessels than achieved by a systemic venous infusion and, as I did not measure left ventricular end-diastolic pressure or volume, I cannot be certain that preload was not altered by intracoronary NTG. Similarly, the reduction in pulse pressure at the baroreceptors brought about by NTG could result in an increase in sympathetic activity. Thus although my intra-coronary studies identify an action of NTG on ventricular contraction/relaxation dynamics independent of an action on the peripheral arterial tree, this could be due to direct and/or indirect actions on the myocardium.

Irrespective of the mechanism through which NTG acts on the myocardium, my results challenge the conventional view that effects of NTG to reduce AP and cPP are mediated mainly by a reduction in wave reflection. Instead they identify a novel mechanism whereby AP and cPP is influenced predominantly by the FPW and hence the contractility/relaxation dynamics of the myocardium. Interestingly Schultz et al have reached a similar conclusion regarding dominance of the FPW as responsible for change in the central pulse during exercise.^{67, 201} My results have implications for the age-related increase in pulse pressure, incidence of isolated systolic hypertension (ISH) and impaired ventricular-vascular coupling. Ventricular relaxation is known to decrease with age and there is a strong correlation between ventricular relaxation and AP.^{201, 202} This has been assumed to be due to the additional afterload imposed by increased AP.^{201, 202} My results raise the possibility of an opposite direction of causality, that changes in myocardial contraction/relaxation drive those in AP. Thus increased AP, cPP and ISH could result, in part, from an age-related decline in myocardial function with a delayed onset of relaxation. This in turn, could be due to an agerelated decline in the availability of endogenous NO from endothelial or neuronal NO synthase.^{202, 203} Further interventional studies will be required to explore this possibility.

My study is subject to several limitations. By necessity the study was limited to subjects that had clinical indications for coronary angiography and a substantial proportion of these had established coronary artery disease. Thus I cannot exclude the possibility that results in subjects without coronary disease might differ and the results of our study cannot necessarily be extrapolated to younger subjects. The interpretation of my study relies, in part, on wave separation theory. However, this theory relies on relatively few assumptions other than conservation of mass and momentum and results obtained using differing mathematical techniques are similar.¹⁷⁴ Furthermore, the main finding of my study that AP is influenced by

ventricular dynamics is borne out by our intra-coronary study independent of wave separation analysis. Accuracy of CO and TPR measurements was limited by the estimation of aortic cross-sectional area but this would not affect the relative change before and after NTG.

In conclusion, AP is determined in large part by the FPW and ventricular contraction/relaxation dynamics. NTG reduces AP by a reduction in the FPW resulting from earlier onset and/or more pronounced ventricular relaxation. The NO-pathway may present a novel target to reduce AP, systolic blood pressure and improve ventricular-vascular coupling.

CHAPTER 5: DOMINANCE OF THE FORWARD COMPRESSION WAVE IN DETERMINING PULSATILE COMPONENTS OF BLOOD PRESSURE: SIMILARITIES BETWEEN INOTROPIC STIMULATION AND ESSENTIAL HYPERTENSION

5.1 Background

Pulsatile components of the aortic blood pressure waveform such as the amplitudes at the first (P1) and second shoulders (P2) of the waveform (figure 16) are important determinants of cardiovascular events.^{40, 175, 204} The extent to which they are determined by ventricular contraction, Windkessel/reservoir properties or other components of the impedance of the proximal arterial tree and reflections from the peripheral arterial tree is unclear.^{23, 62, 179} Wave intensity and wave separation analysis allows pressure to be separated into a forward component travelling from the left ventricle towards the periphery of the arterial tree and a backward component travelling from the arterial tree towards the ventricle.¹⁷² Pressure waves can be further categorized as compression or expansion (suction). A primary forward compression wave (FCW) arises from the "push" of the ventricle against the arterial tree and a systolic backward compression wave (BCW) from the push of the arterial tree against the ventricle. A mid systolic forward expansion wave (FEW) arises from the braking effect of the ventricle in late systole and other minor waves arise from other ventricular - vascular interactions (figure 16).¹⁹⁵ The objective of the present study was to determine the relative contributions of forward and backward waves attributable to pressures generated primarily from the ventricle and arterial tree respectively to 1) changes in pulse pressure during modulation of cardiac contractility and arterial tone by dobutamine and norepinephrine.²⁰⁵ 2) elevated pulse pressure in subjects with essential hypertension.



Figure 16

a) The central arterial pressure pulse with pulsatile components P1 and P2 determined by the heights of first and second shoulders respectively.

b) Forward wave intensities showing the forward compression wave (FCW), mid-systolic forward expansion wave (FEW) and late systolic forward expansion wave (FEW_{1s})

c) Backward wave intensities showing backward expansion wave (BEW), mid-systolic backward compression wave (BCW) and late systolic backward compression wave (BCW_{1s})

5.2 Methods

Study 1: Effects of dobutamine and norepinephrine on haemodynamics

Healthy volunteers (n=10, age 35-63 years, 8 male) took part in this cross-over study to investigate the change in pulsatile haemodynamics following inotropic/vasopressor stimulation. They received cumulative doses of dobutamine (Db) and norepinephrine (NE) on two separate visits at least 7 days apart. Measurements were performed in a quiet temperature controlled (24-26 0 C) vascular laboratory and subjects were asked to avoid caffeine and alcohol on the day of the study. On arrival in the vascular laboratory a peripheral venous catheter was inserted into the left antecubital fossa through which 0.9% saline (Baxter Healthcare) vehicle or drugs dissolved in saline were infused at 1ml/minute using a syringe driver (Injectomat, Agilia®, Fresenius Kabi, Germany). After 30 minutes resting supine during infusion of saline vehicle, baseline haemodynamic measurements (carotid artery tonometry and aortic Doppler flow velocity measurements) were made as described in chapter 2. Dobutamine (2.5, 5 and 7.5 µg/Kg/min, Hameln Pharmaceuticals, UK) or norepinephrine (12.5, 25, 50 ng/Kg/min, Aguettant Ltd, UK) dissolved in 0.9% saline vehicle were then infused at 1 ml/min and haemodynamic measurements repeated at each drug dose after 7 minutes of infusion when steady state was achieved.

Study 2 Comparison of haemodynamic measures in patients with untreated hypertension and normotensive controls

Patients with untreated essential hypertension or hypertension inadequately controlled on treatment were recruited from the hypertension clinics at Guy's and St Thomas' Hospital.

Hypertension was diagnosed as an office blood pressure >140/90 mmHg on at least 3 occasions and/or ambulatory blood pressure > 130/85 mmHg. Patients on treatment for hypertension were included if office blood pressure on treatment was > 140/90 mmHg. Exclusion criterion included: intercurrent illness, pregnancy, significant systemic disease other than mild hypertensive nephropathy, history of ischaemic heart disease, valvular heart disease, echocardiographic evidence of left ventricular ejection fraction <50%, regional wall motion abnormality, left ventricular outflow tract obstruction, pulmonary hypertension and poor transthoracic acoustic window. Healthy volunteers on no regular medication of a similar age and sex distribution to hypertensive subjects were recruited by advertisement from the local community. Subject characteristics are shown in table 6. Subjects were asked to avoid caffeine and alcohol on the day of the study. Haemodynamic measurements were performed as chapter 2 Both study 1 and 2 were approved by the London Westminster Research Ethics Committee and written informed consents were obtained from all participants.

Baseline characteristics	Normotensive controls (n=20)	Hypertensive patients (n=20)
Age (years)	52.2±12.6	48.8±11.3
Men (%)	85	75
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	120±14.2	$165 \pm 26.6^{\ddagger}$
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	71.1±8.20	$98.7{\pm}14.2^{\ddagger}$
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	24.1±2.5	$29.6{\pm}5.4^{\dagger}$
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	5.4 ± 0.8	5.0±1.2
High density lipoprotein (mmol/L)	$1.7{\pm}0.6$	1.5±0.5
HbA1c (%)	5.5 ± 0.2	5.8±0.5
Drug therapy		
ACEI (%)	-	25
ARB (%)	-	25
β-blocker (%)	-	15
Calcium channel blocker (%)	-	65
Diuretic (%)	-	50
α-blocker (%)	-	30
Statins (%)	-	60
Median number of antihypertensive medications	-	2.5

Table 6 Baseline characteristics

Data are means \pm SD or %. ACEI, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor; ARB, angiotensin receptor blocker. $\dagger P < 0.01 \ddagger P < 0.005$ compared to normotensive controls

Haemodynamic measurements

Radial and carotid pressure waveforms were obtained by applanation tonometry performed by an experienced operator (HF) using the SphygmoCor system (AtCor, Australia). Approximately 10 cardiac cycles were obtained and ensemble averaged. Waveforms which did not meet the in-built quality control criteria in the SphygmoCor system were rejected. Brachial blood pressure was measured in triplicate by a validated oscillometric method (Omron 705CP, Omron Health Care, Japan) and used to calibrate radial waveforms to obtain a mean arterial pressure (MAP). Carotid waveforms were calibrated from MAP and diastolic brachial blood pressure on the assumption of equality of these pressures at central and peripheral sites.²⁰⁶ The primary analysis was performed on non-transformed carotid waveforms and a secondary analysis on waveforms transformed to aortic waveforms using the inbuilt transfer function in the SphygmoCor system.

Ultrasound imaging was performed by an experienced operator (BJ) using the Vivid-7 ultrasound platform (General Electric Healthcare, UK). Velocity across the aortic valve was recorded using continuous wave Doppler obtained from an apical 5-chamber view. Stroke volume (SV) was calculated from the product of velocity time integral (VTI) and crosssectional area of the aortic valve (obtained in the parasternal long axis view). All measurements were averaged over at least 3 cardiac cycles. Cardiac output (CO) was calculated from SV and heart rate and total peripheral resistance (TPR) from mean arterial pressure (MAP) divided by CO.

Waveform post-processing

This was carried out as described in chapter 2.

Statistical Analysis

Subject characteristics are summarized as means \pm SD and results as means \pm SEM. Differences between haemodynamic measures in hypertensive and normotensive subjects were examined using Student's unpaired *t*-test. Responses to the vasoactive drugs relative to baseline were

sought by repeated-measures ANOVA. *P*<0.05 was considered significant, and all tests were 2 tailed. Analysis was performed using SPSS version 19.

5.3 Results

Effects of dobutamine and norepinephrine on pressure wave components and wave intensities

The major effect of dobutamine was to increase CO and pulsatility (particularly P1), this being associated with a trend to an increase in MAP and decrease in TPR (table 7). Norepinephrine increased TPR and MAP and also P2 and AP but not P1 (table 8). There was a small but significant fall in CO after norepinephrine (table 8).

		Dobutamine (µg/kg/min)		
Measure	Baseline	2.5	5	7.5
pSBP (mmHg)	117 ± 5.25	125 ± 3.94	138 ± 4.29	$145\pm4.15^{\ddagger}$
pDBP (mmHg)	65.9 ± 2.88	65.5 ± 2.57	66.2 ± 2.28	67.2 ± 1.98
MAP (mmHg)	80.3 ± 3.48	82.0 ± 3.25	85.1 ± 2.57	87.9 ± 2.04
HR (bpm)	64.7 ± 3.51	66.7 ± 4.51	69.0 ± 4.74	$73.0\pm5.24^\dagger$
cSBP (mmHg)	103 ± 5.13	110 ± 4.86	119 ± 3.56	$127 \pm 2.44^{\ddagger}$
P1 (mmHg)	36.8 ± 3.74	43.7 ± 3.23	51.3 ± 3.76	$59.0\pm3.41^\ddagger$
P2 (mmHg)	32.5 ± 3.02	38.0 ± 2.35	41.4 ± 2.47	$47.2\pm3.17^{\dagger}$
AP (mmHg)	-4.29 ± 2.46	-5.73 ± 2.84	-9.91 ± 3.82	$\textbf{-11.8} \pm 4.48$
CO (L/min)	6.92 ± 0.341	7.45 ± 0.482	8.21 ± 0.576	$9.11\pm0.741^{\ddagger}$
TPR(mmHg·min/L)	12.0 ± 0.925	11.4 ± 0.928	10.7 ± 0.694	10.2 ± 0.999
PWV (m/s)	4.07 ± 0.402	4.52 ± 0.371	5.10 ± 0.391	$5.58\pm0.31^{\dagger}$
Wave Intensity $(W/m^2/s^2x)$	10 ⁶)			
FCW	1.42 ± 0.226	2.17 ± 0.267	3.05 ± 0.348	$3.65\pm0.434^{\ddagger}$
FEW	0.137 ± 0.0452	0.140 ± 0.0452	0.193 ± 0.0399	0.243 ± 0.0614
FEW _{ls}	0.128 ± 0.0235	0.181 ± 0.0357	0.168 ± 0.0273	$0.339 \pm 0.0955^{*}$
BEW	-0.0285 ± 0.0745	-0.0499 ± 0.0198	-0.0715 ± 0.0146	$\text{-}0.0921 \pm 0.0227^{\dagger}$
BCW	-0.0200 ± 0.00505	-0.0409 ± 0.00835	-0.0468 ± 0.00833	-0.0399 ± 0.0136
BCW _{ls}	-0.0472 ± 0.0120	-0.0471 ± 0.0133	-0.0982 ± 0.0267	$-0.164 \pm 0.0390^{\dagger}$
BCW:FCW	0.0188 ± 0.00632	0.0201 ± 0.00380	0.0171 ± 0.00402	0.0161 ± 0.00468
Wave Timing (ms)				
FCW	34.4 ± 1.28	33.6 ± 1.67	30.5 ± 0.781	$30.5\pm0.781^\dagger$
FEW	199 ± 30.5	195 ± 28.4	190 ± 23.4	152 ± 28.4
FEW _{ls}	332 ± 21.3	326 ± 24.8	298 ± 17.2	281 ± 20.4
BEW	71.1 ± 13.0	91.4 ± 7.09	82.8 ± 11.3	67.2 ± 12.0
BCW	206 ± 19.7	224 ± 21.9	195 ± 10.8	$118\pm29.8^{\ddagger}$
BCW _{ls}	334 ± 22.7	340 ± 17.6	297 ± 16.6	257 ± 32.9

Table 7 Haemodynamic changes during infusion of dobutamine

Data are expressed as means \pm SEM; AP, augmentation pressure; BCW, mid systolic backward compression wave; BCW_{ls}, late systolic backward compression wave; BEW, backward expansion wave; CO, cardiac output; cSBP, central systolic blood pressure; FCW, forward compression wave; FEW, mid systolic forward expansion wave; FEW_{ls}, late systolic forward expansion wave; HR, heart rate; MAP, mean arterial pressure; P1, pressure at first systolic shoulder; P2, pressure at second systolic peak; pSBP, peripheral systolic blood pressure; pDBP, peripheral diastolic blood pressure; PWV, pulse wave velocity; TPR, total peripheral resistance. *P<0.05, P<0.01, P<0.005 repeated measures ANOVA for dose response curve.

		Norepinephrine (ng/kg/min)		
Measure	Baseline	12.5	25	50
pSBP (mmHg)	114 ± 4.43	117 ± 4.56	120 ± 3.97	$126\pm 4.01^\dagger$
pDBP (mmHg)	67.1 ± 2.31	69.1 ± 2.62	73.4 ± 2.82	$78.4\pm2.84^{\ddagger}$
MAP (mmHg)	80.3 ± 3.48	82.0 ± 3.25	85.1 ± 2.57	$94.3\pm3.22^{\ddagger}$
HR (bpm)	61.5 ± 2.89	57.7 ± 2.91	55.2 ± 2.81	$52.7\pm2.63^{\dagger}$
cSBP (mmHg)	103 ± 4.90	109 ± 5.01	111 ± 5.05	$123\pm6.29^{\ddagger}$
P1 (mmHg)	35.5 ± 1.67	36.5 ± 2.05	33.1 ± 2.72	36.8 ± 2.84
P2 (mmHg)	33.0 ± 2.66	35.8 ± 3.18	37.3 ± 2.72	$43.7\pm4.31^{\ddagger}$
AP (mmHg)	-2.45 ± 2.39	-0.664 ± 2.43	4.26 ± 2.19	$6.92\pm3.29^\ddagger$
CO (L/min)	6.36 ± 0.328	5.99 ± 0.327	5.64 ± 0.152	$5.13\pm0.240^{\ddagger}$
TPR(mmHg·min/L)	13.2 ± 0.908	14.6 ± 1.13	16.0 ± 0.606	$19.2\pm1.38^{\ddagger}$
PWV (m/s)	4.35 ± 0.286	4.71 ± 0.464	4.68 ± 0.163	5.55 ± 0.598
Wave Intensity (W/m ² /s ²	$^{2}x10^{6}$)			
FCW	1.03 ± 0.104	1.01 ± 0.0729	0.803 ± 0.104	0.867 ± 0.114
FEW	0.0990 ± 0.0327	0.149 ± 0.0315	0.105 ± 0.0216	0.162 ± 0.0396
FEW _{ls}	0.115 ± 0.0404	0.115 ± 0.0282	0.123 ± 0.0343	0.0971 ± 0.0182
BEW	-0.0215 ± 0.00550	-0.0410 ± 0.0107	-0.0357 ± 0.0104	-0.0363 ± 0.00642
BCW	-0.0187 ± 0.00417	-0.0310 ± 0.00633	-0.0308 ± 0.00661	$\textbf{-0.0357} \pm 0.00827^{*}$
BCW _{ls}	-0.0547 ± 0.0171	-0.0540 ± 0.0103	-0.0543 ± 0.0133	-0.0465 ± 0.00956
BCW:FCW	0.0191 ± 0.00272	0.0317 ± 0.00662	0.0383 ± 0.00901	$0.0428 \pm 0.00887^*$
Wave Timing (ms)				
FCW	37.5 ± 1.04	35.9 ± 1.28	37.5 ± 1.04	38.3 ± 0.781
FEW	202 ± 32.6	256 ± 25.5	243 ± 35.5	304 ± 19.7
FEW _{1s}	333 ± 24.9	381 ± 18.9	381 ± 17.9	$427\pm21.2^{\dagger}$
BEW	93.0 ± 12.4	105 ± 8.25	96.9 ± 8.09	93.0 ± 7.22
BCW	192 ± 30.6	224 ± 18.0	$234\pm\!\!18.8$	234 ± 21.7
BCW _{ls}	307 ± 38.6	334 ± 23.1	387 ± 13.0	402 ± 29.1

Table 8 Haemodynamic changes during infusion of norepinephrine

Data are expressed as means ±SEM; AP, augmentation pressure; BCW, mid systolic backward compression wave; BCW_{ls}, late systolic backward compression wave; BEW, backward expansion wave; CO, cardiac output; cSBP, central systolic blood pressure; FCW, forward compression wave; FEW, mid systolic forward expansion wave; FEW_{ls}, late systolic forward expansion wave; HR, heart rate; MAP, mean arterial pressure; P1, pressure at first systolic shoulder; P2, pressure at second systolic peak; pSBP, peripheral systolic blood pressure; pDBP, peripheral diastolic blood pressure; PWV, pulse wave velocity; TPR, total peripheral resistance. *P<0.05, †P<0.01, ‡P<0.005 repeated measures ANOVA for dose response curve.

Whilst dobutamine increased pulsatility, increasing both P1 and P2 it did so by increasing the forward pressure wave, with no significant contribution of the backward wave to the increase in P2 (figures 17, 18 and 19). Dobutamine increased the FCW and also the late systolic FEW, BEW and late systolic BCW. However there was no significant change in the ratios of the secondary waves to the FCW. Norepinephrine tended to increase the backward component of P2, particularly in subjects with a positive AP (figures 17, 18 and 19) and, by contrast to dobutamine, increased the mid systolic BCW both in absolute terms and as a proportion of the FCW (tables 7 and 8).





Typical pressure pulses decomposed into forward (dashed) and backward (dotted) components: a) baseline, b) after dobutamine and c) after norepinephrine.





Pressure pulse components showing total pressure pulse and forward (Fw) component of pressure pulse for a) P1 and b) P2 during dobutamine infusion in normotensive subjects.





Pressure pulse components showing total pressure pulse and forward (Fw) component of pressure pulse for a) P1 and b) P2 during norepinephrine infusion in normotensive subjects.

However, the forward wave remained the major component of both P1 and P2 during stimulation with norepinephrine. When using transformed carotid waveforms, there were modest but significant differences in absolute pressures from those obtained from the non-transformed waveform (table 9). However, the main findings that majority of the pulse pressure components during stimulation with both dobutamine and norepinephrine derive from the forward pressure wave remained unchanged.

Measure	Baseline	Db 7.5µg/kg/min	Baseline	NE 50ng/kg/min
Non-transformed				
P1(mmHg)	36.8±3.74	59.0±3.41	35.5±1.67	36.8 ± 2.84
P1f (mmHg)	36.1±3.81	56.9±3.14	34.5±1.61	36.5 ± 3.05
P1b (mmHg)	0.670 ± 0.233	2.08 ± 0.50	$0.989 {\pm} 0.509$	$0.237 {\pm} 0.982$
P1f (%)	98.0±0.709	96.6±0.797	97.3±1.31	99.4 ± 2.40
P1b (%)	2.00 ± 0.709	3.36±0.797	2.69 ± 1.31	0.588 ± 2.40
P2 (mmHg)	32.5 ± 3.02	47.2±3.17	33.0±2.66	43.7±4.31
P2f (mmHg)	31.6±3.35	48.9±3.24	31.7 ± 2.75	39.9±3.41
P2b (mmHg)	0.88 ± 1.52	-1.66 ± 2.08	1.27 ± 1.54	3.82 ± 2.10
P2f (%)	97.3±3.65	105 ± 5.55	96.1±4.18	92.4 ± 4.22
P2b (%)	2.74 ± 3.65	-4.62 ± 5.55	3.93 ± 4.18	7.63 ± 4.22
Transformed				
P1(mmHg)	$29.9{\pm}3.05^\dagger$	$48.3 \pm 2.95^{\dagger}$	$29.0{\pm}1.37^{\dagger}$	$30.1{\pm}2.35^{\dagger}$
P1f (mmHg)	$29.7{\pm}3.09^{\dagger}$	$46.2 \pm 2.94^{\dagger}$	$28.5{\pm}1.33^{\dagger}$	$30.8{\pm}2.53^{\dagger}$
P1b (mmHg)	$0.219{\pm}0.182^\dagger$	2.11±0.895	0.498 ± 0.498	-0.757±0.865
P1f (%)	$99.2{\pm}0.662^\dagger$	$95.7{\pm}2.20^{\dagger}$	$98.4{\pm}1.60$	103±2.68
P1b (%)	$0.789{\pm}0.662^{\dagger}$	$4.33 \pm 2.70^{\dagger}$	1.56 ± 1.60	-2.89 ± 2.68
P2 (mmHg)	33.0±2.89	45.7 ± 2.52	33.3±2.41	43.0±4.04
P2f (mmHg)	$29.6{\pm}2.94^\dagger$	$43.8 \pm 2.82^{\dagger}$	29.9±2.13	36.5±3.11
P2b (mmHg)	$3.40{\pm}1.25^{\dagger}$	$1.91{\pm}1.74^{\dagger}$	3.33 ± 1.20	6.53 ± 1.74
P2f (%)	$89.7 {\pm} 3.13^{\dagger}$	$96.1 \pm 4.38^{\dagger}$	90.2±2.79	$85.4{\pm}3.08^{\dagger}$
P2b (%)	$10.3 \pm 3.13^{\dagger}$	$3.90{\pm}4.38^{\dagger}$	9.78±2.79	$14.6 \pm 3.08^{\dagger}$

 Table 9: Forward and backward pulse pressure components determined using nontransformed and transformed carotid waveforms

Data are means \pm SEM; P1, pressure at first systolic shoulder; P1f forward pressure wave at P1; P1b backward pressure wave at P1; P2, pressure at second systolic peak; P2f forward pressure wave at P2; P2b backward pressure wave at P2; *P<0.05, \uparrow P<0.01 for comparison between wave separation analysis indices using carotid pressure pulse versus synthesized aortic pressure pulse.

Comparison of haemodynamic measures in patients with untreated hypertension and normotensive controls

Compared to normotensive subjects, hypertensive subjects were characterized by increased MAP and increased central aortic pulsatility with P1, P2 and AP and increased by 11.8±2.8, 24.3±4.8 and 12.5±3.8 mmHg respectively compared to normotensive subjects. P1 and P2 were of approximately equal magnitude in normotensive subjects so that AP was close to zero. However, in hypertensive subjects, P2 exceeded P1 giving an AP of 12.6±3.5 mmHg. TPR was greater in hypertensive compared to normotensive subjects but CO was similar in the two groups (table 10).

Table	10
-------	----

Measure	Normotensive controls	Hypertensive patients
pSBP (mmHg)	120 ± 14.2	$165 \pm 26.6^{\ddagger}$
pDBP (mmHg)	71.1 ± 8.20	$98.7 \pm 14.2^{\ddagger}$
MAP (mmHg)	87.3 ± 1.97	$122 \pm 3.38^{\ddagger}$
HR (bpm)	63.0 ± 1.66	66.2 ± 2.14
cSBP (mmHg)	109 ± 2.67	$159\pm5.06^{\ddagger}$
P1 (mmHg)	33.9 ± 1.67	$45.7\pm2.26^{\ddagger}$
P2 (mmHg)	34.1 ± 2.13	$58.4\pm4.35^{\ddagger}$
T1 (ms)	106 ± 2.97	99.6 ± 3.34
T2 (ms)	221 ± 4.02	211 ± 5.79
AP (mmHg)	0.133 ± 1.58	$12.6 \pm 3.49^{\ddagger}$
CO (L/min)	5.30 ± 0.306	5.98 ± 0.404
TPR (mmHg·min/L)	17.9 ± 1.41	$22.7 \pm 1.95*$
PWV (m/s)	4.49 ± 0.294	$5.74\pm0.345^\ddagger$
Wave Intensity $(W/m^2/s^2x10^6)$		
FCW	0.92 ± 0.0779	$1.50 \pm 0.118^{*}$
FEW	0.143 ± 0.0171	$0.267 \pm 0.0343^{\ddagger}$
FEW_{ls}	0.0860 ± 0.0151	$0.163\pm0.0192^\dagger$
BEW	-0.0403 ± 0.00666	-0.0562 ± 0.00938
BCW	-0.0242 ± 0.00478	$-0.0904 \pm 0.0226^{*}$
BCW _{ls}	-0.0460 ± 0.00942	-0.0575 ± 0.0112
BCW:FCW	0.0296 ± 0.00659	$0.0573 \pm 0.00765^{\ddagger}$
Wave Timing (ms)		
FCW	36.3 ± 1.03	39.5 ± 1.20
FEW	255 ± 18.4	257 ± 13.5
FEW_{ls}	389.5 ± 13.9	374 ± 16.0
BEW	96.5 ± 4.98	81.6 ± 5.8
BCW	209 ± 16.7	175 ± 9.68
BCW _{ls}	353 ± 22.3	346 ± 12.2

Data are expressed as means \pm SEM; AP, augmentation pressure; BCW, mid systolic backward compression wave; BCW_{1s}, late systolic backward compression wave; BEW, backward expansion wave; CO, cardiac output; cSBP, central systolic blood pressure; FCW, forward compression wave; FEW, mid systolic forward expansion wave; FEW_{1s}, late systolic forward expansion wave; HR, heart rate; MAP, mean arterial pressure; P1, pressure at first systolic shoulder; P2, pressure at second systolic shoulder; pSBP, peripheral systolic blood pressure; pDBP, peripheral diastolic blood pressure; PWV, pulse wave velocity; TPR, total peripheral resistance; T1, time of P1 after onset of systole; T2, time of P2 after onset of systole. *P<0.05, \dagger P<0.01, \ddagger P<0.005 compared to normotensive controls.

Relative contribution of forward and backward waves to pulsatile components of blood pressure in normotensive and hypertensive subjects

Wave separation analysis demonstrated that, in normotensive subjects, both P1 and P2 were determined almost exclusively by forward components of the pressure wave, although in subjects with a positive AP, the backward wave did contribute to P2. In hypertensive subjects (in whom AP was positive), P1 was also determined by the forward wave and the forward wave provided the major contribution to P2. However, the backward wave provided a greater contribution to P2 than in normotensive subjects (7.3 ± 1.9 mmHg compared to 1.0 ± 0.7 mmHg in normotensive subjects, P<0.01, figure 20) and contributed 7.1 ± 2.1 mmHg to the total AP of 12.6 ± 3.5 mmHg in hypertensive subjects.





Pressure pulse components showing total pressure pulse and forward (Fw) component of pressure pulse for a) P1 and b) P2 in normotensive controls and hypertensive subjects. *P < 0.05.

Wave intensities in normotensive and hypertensive subjects

The FCW was greater in hypertensive compared to normotensive subjects (table 10). The mid systolic BCW was also greater in hypertensive compared to normotensive subjects, both in absolute terms and as a proportion of the FCW and tended to arrive earlier in systole in hypertensive compared to normotensive subjects, although the difference in timing was not statistically significant (table 10). The FEW were also greater in hypertensive compared to normotensive subjects but the FEW/FCW ratios were not significantly different in the two groups.

5.4 Discussion

Temporal variation of blood pressure during systole offers not only an insight into ventricular-vascular interaction but contributes to the risk of future cardiovascular events. At any age, pulse pressure provides additional prognostic information over MAP, and in older subjects, is the single most important component of blood pressure in determining outcome.¹⁷⁵ Central (aortic or carotid) pressures generated at the interface between the ventricle and arterial tree propagate along the arterial tree to determine peripheral blood pressure and appear to be at least as important a determinant of outcome as peripheral pressures.⁴⁷ In addition to central pulse pressure, the difference between P1 and P2 as expressed by AP or augmentation index may be an independent determinant of outcome.⁴⁷ Despite the importance of P1 and P2, the properties of the ventricle and arterial tree that generate increased pulsatility are still poorly understood. Previous studies have focused on central pulse pressure (equal to P2 in older subjects and P1 in younger subjects) and the established view is that an elevated pulse pressure in hypertension results from increased augmentation of the forward pressure wave by the backward wave, this in turn arising from increased amplitude and/or earlier return of the backward wave.^{18, 179} An alternative view is that increased pulse pressure results from increased aortic characteristic impedance (which has greater dependence than PWV on aortic cross-sectional area) and relates, in part, to an effective decrease in aortic diameter.¹⁸¹

To my knowledge, this is the first study to use wave separation analysis to make direct estimates of the contributions of the forward and backward waves to pulsatile components of central blood pressure at rest and during modulation of pulsatility using dobutamine and norepinephrine, drugs that both have inotropic properties but which have divergent actions on the peripheral arterial tree and produce markedly different effects on pulse pressure and peripheral resistance. At rest, in normotensive individuals, both P1 and P2 pulsatile components were determined almost exclusively by the forward pressure wave. Dobutamine produced a marked increase in both P1 and P2 that was again almost exclusively due to effects on the forward wave, as would be expected from an inotrope increasing contractility of the ventricle from which the forward wave derives. By comparison to dobutamine, norepinephrine produced a greater increase in MAP but only a modest increase in pulse pressure (determined by an increase in P2) for which forward and backward components were approximately equal. These results suggest, therefore, that the contribution of the backward wave to pulsatile components of blood pressure in normotensive subjects at rest and during inotropic and vasopressor stimulation is minor in comparison to that of the forward wave. Wave intensity analysis provides further insight into the haemodynamic origin of forward and backward waves. This analysis confirms that the increased forward pressure wave components of P1 and P2 generated by dobutamine acting to increase myocardial contractility result from an increased FCW which also occurs earlier in systole. Interestingly

Schultz et al have reached a similar conclusion regarding dominance of the FPW as responsible for change in the central pulse during exercise⁶⁷, a physiological stimulus to increased myocardial contractility. Changes in other waves (backward expansion, late systolic FEW and late systolic BCW) could be secondary to the greater intensity and earlier timing of the FCW.

By contrast to dobutamine, norepinephrine did not increase the FCW. Although the intrinsic action of norepinephrine on the myocardium is to increase contractility, its action on the peripheral vascular tree to increase peripheral resistance will depend on basal sympathetic tone and can result in a reflex decrease in sympathetic output, myocardial contractility and a decrease in CO (as seen in the present study).²⁰⁷ Thus the lack of effect of norepinephrine on the FCW is expected. Norepinephrine did increase the mid systolic BCW both in absolute terms and as a proportion of the FCW, an action consistent with increased reflection that would be expected to increase the backward pressure wave. However, quantitative analysis of the relative contributions of forward and backward waves shows the contribution of the latter to increased pulsatility is minor.

In hypertensive subjects, both P1 and P2 components were greater than in normotensive subjects. As in normotensive subjects, P1 was determined exclusively by the forward wave component. P2 was determined by both the forward and backward waves. However, the forward wave accounted for the majority of P2 and approximately two thirds of the total difference in P2 between hypertensive and normotensive subjects. The backward wave was a significant component of AP in hypertensive subjects, but even for AP, the backward wave only accounted for approximately 50% of AP. Wave intensity analysis confirmed a greater FCW and mid systolic BCW in hypertension compared to normotensive subjects consistent with the relative contribution of forward and backward waves to pulsatility. Comparison of the difference between hypertensive and normotensive subjects with the results of inotropic and vasopressor stimulation in normotensive subjects, show that increased pulsatility in hypertension most closely resembles that simulated with dobutamine in normotensives. These results, therefore, challenge the view that increased pulsatility in essential hypertension results from increased wave reflection. Instead they underline the dominance of the forward wave generated by ventricular contraction. Increased sympathetic activation is invariably present in essential hypertension and either alone or in combination with increased pre-load may explain increased ventricular ejection early in systole and hence increased forward wave components of pulsatility in hypertension.²⁰⁸

This study is subject to a number of limitations. The majority of the hypertensive subjects I studied were on treatment with diuretics and/or vasodilator drugs which would tend to increase sympathetic activity. Thus, although sympathetic activation is thought to be an early event in the pathogenesis of hypertension²⁰⁸ I cannot be certain that these results apply to untreated hypertension. It is likely that the relative contribution of FCW and BCW components to increased pulsatility differ across the spectrum of essential hypertension and further studies will be required to determine the relative importance of these components according to age, neuro-endocrine profile and blood pressure treatment. Errors in our analysis could relate to non-invasive derivation of pressure and flow and the use of carotid pressure as a surrogate for aortic pressure. However, scaling errors relating to the exact point at which flow velocity is measured do not influence wave intensity values or wave separation analysis. We also obtained similar findings relating to the dominance of the forward pressure wave irrespective of whether we used a carotid-to-aortic transfer function. Furthermore, the use of the inotropic and vasopressor drugs to verify that the FCW arises primarily from myocardial

contractility and the BCW from vasoconstriction of the arterial tree strongly support the conclusions from these analyses.

5.5 Conclusion

An increase in pulse pressure is the major haemodynamic change contributing to hypertension in an ageing population. It could result from either an increase in a forward compression wave generated by the ventricle or backward compression wave generated from the arterial tree. The present results suggest that the former dominates both during inotropic stimulation with dobutamine and in subjects with treated essential hypertension. Even when arterial tone is increased with norepinephrine, the contribution of the backward wave to increased pulsatility is relatively modest. The results highlight the potential importance of ventricular dynamics as well as arterial stiffness in the genesis of systolic hypertension and suggest interventions that might modify this may be particularly effective in reducing pulse pressure and systolic hypertension. In conclusion, wave separation and intensity analysis suggest increased pulsatile components of blood pressure in essential hypertension derive predominantly from a forward pressure wave generated by increased myocardial contractility. An increased backward wave does contribute to increased central pulse pressure in hypertension but its contribution is less than predicted from augmentation pressure which is influenced both by forward and backward waves.

DISCUSSIONS
The first part of this thesis systematically examined the effects of vasodilators on large muscular arteries and resistance arterioles in the human forearm circulation. The relationship between arterial diameter and PWV was also explored in order to examine whether modulation of PWV is due to a change in arterial diameter or is determined by a specific molecular pathway. For a given change in resistance arteriolar vascular tone, the NO donors GTN and NP acting on the NO-sGC-cGMP pathway were shown to have the most selective action on the radial artery, an example of a muscular large artery. By contrast vasodilators acting on the L-type voltage-dependent calcium channels, *a*-adrenoceptors and BNP-pGC pathways had relatively little effect on the radial artery suggesting that their contribution to resting vascular tone of muscular large arteries is minimal. Both sGC and pGC produce cGMP in VSMC, so it is unclear why BNP and NO donors should have a differential effect on VSMC in large muscular arteries and resistance arterioles. One possible explanation is the spatial compartmentalization of cGMP production within VSMC where sGC is thought to produce cGMP nearer to the sarcolemma compared to cGMP produced by pGC.^{182, 183} It is also possible that cGMP is not the only mechanism producing VSMC relaxation in muscular large arteries. This is supported by the observation that GTN and NP, both acting on the sGC-cGMP pathway, have different effects on large muscular arteries and resistance arterioles. An intermediate metabolite of GTN and NP and/or activation of other mechanisms such as endothelial hyperpolarizing factors could potentially explain the differential effects of NO donors on large muscular arteries.¹⁵⁴

One of the limitations of this *in vivo* human forearm circulation model is the difficulty to control for local exposure to vasoactive substances as a result of dynamic changes to vascular tone and blood flow, which may have confounding effects on the results of these studies. At present there is no obvious solution to this other than to confirm these findings with *in vitro* experiments. Within the limits of this however, the same human forearm circulation model could be used to further elucidate the regulation of vascular tone in muscular arteries. Firstly co-infusion of NO donors and phosphodiesterase V inhibitors/sGC activators could be used to examine the importance of cGMP in the vascular tone of muscular large arteries and resistance arterioles. Secondly, the contribution of other known signaling pathway such as endothelin, angiotensin II, prostaglandin and potassium channels could be explored systematically by local infusion of agonist/antagonists. The regulation of vascular tone in hypertensive subjects may differ from that in healthy normotensive volunteers and this should be explored. A further finding from chapter 3 was the close relationship between arterial diameter and PWV, irrespective of the vasoactive substance used to modulate arterial tone. This suggested that short-term alteration in PWV is mostly dependent on change in vascular tone rather than dependent on a specific signaling pathway. Partitioning the components of PWV using the Moens-Korteweg equation demonstrated the complex interactions between structural proteins and VSMC in determining arterial wall stiffness and PWV. The paradoxical increase in elastic modulus with vasodilatation is likely an important property in the maintenance of arterial wall structural integrity over a wide range of vascular tone and pressure.

GTN, the drug found to be the most selective dilator of large muscular arteries in chapter 3, is also the drug thought to be most specific in reducing AP and hence cPP. This is entirely consistent with an action to dilate muscular arteries and hence reduce pressure wave reflection from peripheral arteries – the generally accepted explanation for this action. However, the effect could also be due to an action on the myocardium. In chapter 4 I explored central haemodynamic effects of GTN during simultaneous invasive measurements of aortic pressure and flow velocity. This allows wave separation and wave intensity analyses

to be applied to test the hypothesis that reduction in the amplitude and delay in timing of reflected pressure waves is the main mechanism through which GTN reduces AP and cPP. In the first part of this study GTN was administered systemically via the sublingual route and in the second part of this study GTN was infused locally into the coronary arteries in order to examine the contribution of left ventricular dynamics on AP. At baseline wave separation analysis showed that the FPW provided a greater contribution to AP relative to the BPW than previously thought. Following sublingual administration of GTN, cPP and AP but not MAP or DBP were reduced, consistent with previous data in the literature.^{86, 116, 146} Application of wave separation and wave intensity analyses further revealed the reduction in AP was due to a reduction in both FPW and BPW and the ratio of BPW:FPW and BCW:FCW energy were unaltered suggesting most of the changes in BPW were secondary to a change in FPW. This surprising finding is not consistent with a reduction in wave reflection as the mechanism by which GTN reduces AP. Further analysis of the FPW by wave intensity analysis suggested an earlier and more pronounced relaxation of the left ventricle following administration of sublingual GTN. Firstly, the timing of FEW was shortened, which is consistent with an earlier onset of the 'braking effect' or relaxation of the left ventricle. Secondly, the maximal FCW wave intensity, which occurred in early systole at peak myocardial stress, remained relatively constant but FCW energy, which is an integral of wave peak that also includes waves at late systole, was significantly reduced indicating that FCW was diminished at the time of pressure augmentation.

In the second part of the study infusion of intracoronary GTN at a dose that does not have systemic effects was used to confirm that reduction of AP by GTN is mediated, at least in part, by an action on the myocardium. Intracoronary GTN reduced AP despite no significant change in heart rate, DBP or MAP. Taken together these observations suggest that

at doses of GTN where DBP and MAP are unaltered, the reduction in AP and cPP is secondary to a direct lusitropic effect on the left ventricle. This challenges the established view that vasodilatation of large muscular arteries and consequent reduction of pressure wave reflection is the main mechanism by which GTN reduces AP and cPP. Furthermore, it adds to the body of evidence against the conventional view that AP and AIx are measures of pressure wave reflection.^{61, 68, 98} Results from this study suggest that AP is more closely related to left ventricular contraction/relaxation dynamics rather than the arterial load imposed on the left ventricle. The sensitivity of AP to GTN suggests that endogenous production of NO within the myocardium may be an important determinant of ventricular relaxation.^{202, 203} Further studies are required to probe the relationship between lusitropy and AP. In addition dose ranging studies with intracoronary GTN infusion with the inclusion of left ventricular pressure-volume loop analysis will be helpful to elucidate the role of pre-load and to confirm the threshold for which GTN exerts a direct effect on the myocardium. Furthermore local intracoronary infusion of comparator drugs that have opposing effects to GTN on the vasculature and the left ventricle such as phentolamine or esmolol may be helpful in determining how different stimuli affect AP and also to investigate whether lusitropy associated with AP reduction is determined by a specific signaling pathway(s).^{159, 209, 210}

With the unexpected finding in chapter 4 that AP relates predominantly to the FPW, rather than the BPW, I questioned the established view that increased pulse pressure in hypertension relates primarily to increased arterial stiffness and increased pressure wave reflection. The objective of chapter 5 was to explore the relative contribution of FPW and BPW to cPP and its components in healthy volunteers under pharmacological stress, and also in subjects with hypertension and elevated pulse pressure. Wave separation and wave intensity analyses were again applied to examine in detail the contribution of FPW and BPW

to cPP and its components. Dobutamine markedly increased pulsatility, increasing cPP and its components, P1 and P2 without any significant effect on MAP. Most of this increase in pulsatility was attributable to an increase in FPW. Moreover the magnitude of increase was greater for P1 than in P2 resulting in a trend for a reduction in AP. Wave intensity analysis showed that FCW intensity increased and occurred earlier in systole with incremental doses of dobutamine but the BCW: FCW ratio did not change significantly, which is consistent with the findings that inotropic stimulation with dobutamine determines the FPW in both P1 and P2, which in turn increases cPP. By contrast norepinephrine also increased cPP but to a smaller magnitude in comparison to dobutamine and with an increase in MAP. Increase in pulsatility was attributed to an increase in P2 but not P1, resulting in a significant rise in AP. Despite a significant increase in BPW with incremental doses of norepinephrine the FPW remained the dominant contributor to P1, P2 and cPP. In the second part of this study, cPP and its components were compared in hypertensive subjects and age-matched healthy normotensive volunteers. For both groups of subjects wave separation analysis illustrated that the FPW provided the dominant contribution to both P1 and P2, but in subjects with hypertension, the relative contribution of the BPW to P2 was higher in comparison to normotensive volunteers. Approximately 50% of AP was accounted for by the FPW. Although CO was similar in the two groups, wave intensity analysis showed that both FCW and FEW were significantly higher in subjects with hypertension. In addition, the BCW and BCW:FCW ratio were also significantly increased suggesting that in subjects with hypertension and elevated pulse pressure both FPW and BPW contributed to pulsatility but the former predominates. In comparison to inotropic and vasopressor stimulation by dobutamine and norepinephrine, the increase in pulsatility in hypertension resembled the combined effect of both drugs but the contribution of BPW to pulsatility is less than previously thought.

Taken together, the results of chapters 4 and 5 represent a paradigm shift in the haemodynamic genesis of hypertension. Because CO is generally similar in hypertensive and normotensive subjects, hypertension has traditionally been regarded as an arterial problem, with diastolic hypertension being due to an increase in peripheral resistance and an increased pulsatility and hence systolic pressure being due to increased arterial stiffness and/or increased pressure wave reflection. The findings from chapters 4 and 5 suggest that hypertension results in large part from altered ventricular dynamics. Chapter 4 highlights a novel potential therapeutic mechanism for reducing the ventricular generated FPW and hence pulse pressure via an action on lusitropy. This might be a particularly important therapeutic approach in subjects with isolated systolic hypertension but relatively normal arterial stiffness. In these subjects conventional vasodilator therapy will reduce systolic pressure in parallel with diastolic pressure reducing myocardial perfusion pressure and, especially in the presence of obstructive coronary disease, jeopardizing myocardial perfusion. By contrast, a drug such as GTN with preferential effects to reduce systolic but not diastolic pressure through a lusitropic action may confer greater benefit for a given degree of systolic blood pressure reduction. This is of course a hypothesis and would need to be tested through a clinical trial.

Perspective

The major findings from this thesis challenge the conventional view that widened pulse pressure is predominantly driven by pressure wave reflection resulting from increased arterial stiffness. Instead experimental results from both chapters 4 and 5 of this thesis showed that left ventricular contraction/relaxation dynamics has a major influence on pulsatility. This has a strong translational potential for the therapeutic development for ISH and perhaps also for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. The application of wave intensity analysis to studies using pharmacological probes, in addition to left ventricular pressure-volume loop analysis could further our understanding between left ventricular contraction/relaxation dynamics and pulse pressure. In this regard the nitric oxide donors appear to be the most promising but a number of important questions pertaining to their effects on preload and the contribution of other known signaling pathway such as the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system should be systematically explored. Furthermore the haemodynamic changes induced by pharmacological probes in the presence of left ventricular hypertrophy and diastolic dysfunction will be of much interest as it will shed light on the haemodynamic effect of ventricular stiffening. Patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in the absence of coronary artery disease and hypertension would be an interesting group of subjects to investigate for this matter. Finally the differential vasoregulatory mechanisms of muscular conduit arteries and resistance arterioles should be explored further in hypertensive patients to determine the effect of arterial disease on the resting tone of muscular conduit arteries.

Conclusion

This thesis was set out to determine the mechanism by which vasodilators reduce AP and cPP. The major findings of this thesis were (i) NO donors have a selective action to dilate large muscular arteries relative to resistance arterioles. (ii) Despite this action on large muscular arteries, the major action of GTN to reduce AP and cPP is mediated by a novel direct lusitropic mechanism on the left ventricle, rather than a reduction in pressure wave reflection. (iii) Both FPW and BPW contribute to the increase in AP and cPP in hypertension. However most of the increase in pulsatility is mediated through altered ventricular

contractility. Further research is required to investigate the relationship between ventricular dynamics, lusitropy in particular, and pulse pressure and the signaling pathway(s) that modulates these properties.

REFERENCES

- 1. A global brief on hypertension: silent killer, global public health crisis. 2013;2013.
- 2. Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, Benjamin EJ, Berry JD, Blaha MJ, Dai S, Ford ES, Fox CS, Franco S, Fullerton HJ, Gillespie C, Hailpern SM, Heit JA, Howard VJ, Huffman MD, Judd SE, Kissela BM, Kittner SJ, Lackland DT, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth LD, Mackey RH, Magid DJ, Marcus GM, Marelli A, Matchar DB, McGuire DK, Mohler ER, 3rd, Moy CS, Mussolino ME, Neumar RW, Nichol G, Pandey DK, Paynter NP, Reeves MJ, Sorlie PD, Stein J, Towfighi A, Turan TN, Virani SS, Wong ND, Woo D and Turner MB. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2014 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2014;129:e28-e292.
- 3. Mancia G and Grassi G. Systolic and diastolic blood pressure control in antihypertensive drug trials. *Journal of hypertension*. 2002;20:1461-4.
- Wald DS, Law M, Morris JK, Bestwick JP and Wald NJ. Combination therapy versus monotherapy in reducing blood pressure: meta-analysis on 11,000 participants from 42 trials. *Am J Med.* 2009;122:290-300.
- Glynn LG, Murphy AW, Smith SM, Schroeder K and Fahey T. Interventions used to improve control of blood pressure in patients with hypertension. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*. 2010:CD005182.
- 6. Musini VM, Tejani AM, Bassett K and Wright JM. Pharmacotherapy for hypertension in the elderly. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*. 2009:CD000028.
- Heidenreich PA, Trogdon JG, Khavjou OA, Butler J, Dracup K, Ezekowitz MD, Finkelstein EA, Hong Y, Johnston SC, Khera A, Lloyd-Jones DM, Nelson SA, Nichol G, Orenstein D, Wilson PW and Woo YJ. Forecasting the future of cardiovascular disease in the United States: a policy statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2011;123:933-44.
- Black HR, Kuller LH, O'Rourke MF, Weber MA, Alderman MH, Benetos A, Burnett J, Cohn JN, Franklin SS, Mancia G, Safar M and Zanchetti A. The first report of the Systolic and Pulse Pressure (SYPP) Working Group. *Journal of hypertension Supplement : official journal of the International Society of Hypertension.* 1999;17:S3-14.
- 9. James PA, Oparil S, Carter BL, Cushman WC, Dennison-Himmelfarb C, Handler J, Lackland DT, Lefevre ML, Mackenzie TD, Ogedegbe O, Smith SC, Jr., Svetkey LP, Taler SJ, Townsend RR, Wright JT, Jr., Narva AS and Ortiz E. 2014 Evidence-Based Guideline for the Management of High Blood Pressure in Adults: Report From the

Panel Members Appointed to the Eighth Joint National Committee (JNC 8). *JAMA*. 2013.

- 10. Mancia G, Fagard R, Narkiewicz K, Redon J, Zanchetti A, Bohm M, Christiaens T, Cifkova R, De Backer G, Dominiczak A, Galderisi M, Grobbee DE, Jaarsma T, Kirchhof P, Kjeldsen SE, Laurent S, Manolis AJ, Nilsson PM, Ruilope LM, Schmieder RE, Sirnes PA, Sleight P, Viigimaa M, Waeber B, Zannad F, Burnier M, Ambrosioni E, Caufield M, Coca A, Olsen MH, Tsioufis C, van de Borne P, Zamorano JL, Achenbach S, Baumgartner H, Bax JJ, Bueno H, Dean V, Deaton C, Erol C, Ferrari R, Hasdai D, Hoes AW, Knuuti J, Kolh P, Lancellotti P, Linhart A, Nihoyannopoulos P, Piepoli MF, Ponikowski P, Tamargo JL, Tendera M, Torbicki A, Wijns W, Windecker S, Clement DL, Gillebert TC, Rosei EA, Anker SD, Bauersachs J, Hitij JB, Caulfield M, De Buyzere M, De Geest S, Derumeaux GA, Erdine S, Farsang C, Funck-Brentano C, Gerc V, Germano G, Gielen S, Haller H, Jordan J, Kahan T, Komajda M, Lovic D, Mahrholdt H, Ostergren J, Parati G, Perk J, Polonia J, Popescu BA, Reiner Z, Ryden L, Sirenko Y, Stanton A, Struijker-Boudier H, Vlachopoulos C, Volpe M and Wood DA. 2013 ESH/ESC guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the Task Force for the Management of Arterial Hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J. 2013;34:2159-219.
- Bhatt DL, Kandzari DE, O'Neill WW, D'Agostino R, Flack JM, Katzen BT, Leon MB, Liu M, Mauri L, Negoita M, Cohen SA, Oparil S, Rocha-Singh K, Townsend RR, Bakris GL and Investigators SH-. A controlled trial of renal denervation for resistant hypertension. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2014;370:1393-401.
- 12. Weiss S and Ellis LB. The quantitative aspects and dynamics of the circulatory mechanism in arterial hypertension. *Am Heart J*. 1930;5:448-468.
- 13. Schillaci G, Pirro M and Mannarino E. Assessing cardiovascular risk: should we discard diastolic blood pressure? *Circulation*. 2009;119:210-2.
- McInnes G. Clinical Pharmacology And Therapeutics Of Hypertension. *Handbook Of Hypertension*. 2008;25:588.
- Wiggers CJ. Physical and Physiological Aspects of Arteriosclerosis and Hypertension*. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 1932;6:12-30.

- Kannel WB. Historic perspectives on the relative contributions of diastolic and systolic blood pressure elevation to cardiovascular risk profile. *Am Heart J*. 1999;138:205-10.
- Cecelja M and Chowienczyk P. Role of arterial stiffness in cardiovascular disease. JRSM cardiovascular disease. 2012;1.
- Nichols WW ORM. McDonald's Blood Flow In Arteries: Theoretical, Experimental And Clinical Applications. 5th Edition ed: Hodder Arnold; 2005.
- Kelly RP, Gibbs HH, O'Rourke MF, Daley JE, Mang K, Morgan JJ and Avolio AP. Nitroglycerin has more favourable effects on left ventricular afterload than apparent from measurement of pressure in a peripheral artery. *Eur Heart J*. 1990;11:138-44.
- 20. Pauca AL, Wallenhaupt SL, Kon ND and Tucker WY. Does radial artery pressure accurately reflect aortic pressure? *Chest*. 1992;102:1193-8.
- Franklin SS, Gustin Wt, Wong ND, Larson MG, Weber MA, Kannel WB and Levy D. Hemodynamic patterns of age-related changes in blood pressure. The Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. 1997;96:308-15.
- 22. Safar MEORMF. Arterial Stiffness In Hypertension. 1st ed: Elsevier; 2006.
- 23. Dart AM and Kingwell BA. Pulse pressure--a review of mechanisms and clinical relevance. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2001;37:975-84.
- Mitchell GF, Parise H, Benjamin EJ, Larson MG, Keyes MJ, Vita JA, Vasan RS and Levy D. Changes in arterial stiffness and wave reflection with advancing age in healthy men and women: the Framingham Heart Study. *Hypertension*. 2004;43:1239-45.
- 25. Mahmud A and Feely J. Effect of smoking on arterial stiffness and pulse pressure amplification. *Hypertension*. 2003;41:183-7.
- 26. McEniery CM, McDonnell BJ, So A, Aitken S, Bolton CE, Munnery M, Hickson SS, Yasmin, Maki-Petaja KM, Cockcroft JR, Dixon AK and Wilkinson IB. Aortic calcification is associated with aortic stiffness and isolated systolic hypertension in healthy individuals. *Hypertension*. 2009;53:524-31.
- Ronnback M, Fagerudd J, Forsblom C, Pettersson-Fernholm K, Reunanen A and Groop PH. Altered age-related blood pressure pattern in type 1 diabetes. *Circulation*. 2004;110:1076-82.
- 28. Blacher J, Guerin AP, Pannier B, Marchais SJ, Safar ME and London GM. Impact of aortic stiffness on survival in end-stage renal disease. *Circulation*. 1999;99:2434-9.

- Benetos A, Safar M, Rudnichi A, Smulyan H, Richard JL, Ducimetieere P and Guize L. Pulse pressure: a predictor of long-term cardiovascular mortality in a French male population. *Hypertension*. 1997;30:1410-5.
- Madhavan S, Ooi WL, Cohen H and Alderman MH. Relation of pulse pressure and blood pressure reduction to the incidence of myocardial infarction. *Hypertension*. 1994;23:395-401.
- 31. Darne B, Girerd X, Safar M, Cambien F and Guize L. Pulsatile versus steady component of blood pressure: a cross-sectional analysis and a prospective analysis on cardiovascular mortality. *Hypertension*. 1989;13:392-400.
- Fang J, Madhavan S, Cohen H and Alderman MH. Measures of blood pressure and myocardial infarction in treated hypertensive patients. *Journal of hypertension*. 1995;13:413-9.
- 33. Benetos A, Zureik M, Morcet J, Thomas F, Bean K, Safar M, Ducimetiere P and Guize L. A decrease in diastolic blood pressure combined with an increase in systolic blood pressure is associated with a higher cardiovascular mortality in men. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2000;35:673-80.
- 34. Blacher J, Staessen JA, Girerd X, Gasowski J, Thijs L, Liu L, Wang JG, Fagard RH and Safar ME. Pulse pressure not mean pressure determines cardiovascular risk in older hypertensive patients. *Archives of internal medicine*. 2000;160:1085-9.
- 35. Glynn RJ, Chae CU, Guralnik JM, Taylor JO and Hennekens CH. Pulse pressure and mortality in older people. *Archives of internal medicine*. 2000;160:2765-72.
- Domanski MJ, Davis BR, Pfeffer MA, Kastantin M and Mitchell GF. Isolated systolic hypertension : prognostic information provided by pulse pressure. *Hypertension*. 1999;34:375-80.
- 37. Lee ML, Rosner BA and Weiss ST. Relationship of blood pressure to cardiovascular death: the effects of pulse pressure in the elderly. *Annals of epidemiology*. 1999;9:101-7.
- 38. Staessen JA, Gasowski J, Wang JG, Thijs L, Den Hond E, Boissel JP, Coope J, Ekbom T, Gueyffier F, Liu L, Kerlikowske K, Pocock S and Fagard RH. Risks of untreated and treated isolated systolic hypertension in the elderly: meta-analysis of outcome trials. *Lancet*. 2000;355:865-72.
- Gasowski J, Fagard RH, Staessen JA, Grodzicki T, Pocock S, Boutitie F, Gueyffier F and Boissel JP. Pulsatile blood pressure component as predictor of mortality in

hypertension: a meta-analysis of clinical trial control groups. *Journal of hypertension*. 2002;20:145-51.

- Franklin SS, Khan SA, Wong ND, Larson MG and Levy D. Is pulse pressure useful in predicting risk for coronary heart Disease? The Framingham heart study. *Circulation*. 1999;100:354-60.
- 41. Palmieri V, Devereux RB, Hollywood J, Bella JN, Liu JE, Lee ET, Best LG, Howard BV and Roman MJ. Association of pulse pressure with cardiovascular outcome is independent of left ventricular hypertrophy and systolic dysfunction: the Strong Heart Study. *Am J Hypertens*. 2006;19:601-7.
- Franklin SS, Jacobs MJ, Wong ND, L'Italien GJ and Lapuerta P. Predominance of isolated systolic hypertension among middle-aged and elderly US hypertensives: analysis based on National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III. *Hypertension*. 2001;37:869-74.
- 43. Mancia G, Bombelli M, Lanzarotti A, Grassi G, Cesana G, Zanchetti A and Sega R. Systolic vs diastolic blood pressure control in the hypertensive patients of the PAMELA population. Pressioni Arteriose Monitorate E Loro Associazioni. Archives of internal medicine. 2002;162:582-6.
- 44. Hope SA and Hughes AD. Drug effects on the mechanical properties of large arteries in humans. *Clinical and experimental pharmacology & physiology*. 2007;34:688-93.
- 45. Fagard RH, Staessen JA, Thijs L, Celis H, Bulpitt CJ, de Leeuw PW, Leonetti G, Tuomilehto J and Yodfat Y. On-treatment diastolic blood pressure and prognosis in systolic hypertension. *Archives of internal medicine*. 2007;167:1884-91.
- 46. van Trijp MJ, Bos WJ, Uiterwaal CS, Oren A, Vos LE, Grobbee DE and Bots ML. Determinants of augmentation index in young men: the ARYA study. *European journal of clinical investigation*. 2004;34:825-30.
- Vlachopoulos C, Aznaouridis K, O'Rourke MF, Safar ME, Baou K and Stefanadis C.
 Prediction of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality with central haemodynamics: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Heart J*. 2010;31:1865-71.
- Agabiti-Rosei E, Mancia G, O'Rourke MF, Roman MJ, Safar ME, Smulyan H, Wang JG, Wilkinson IB, Williams B and Vlachopoulos C. Central blood pressure measurements and antihypertensive therapy: a consensus document. *Hypertension*. 2007;50:154-60.

- 49. Safar ME, Bouthier JA, Levenson JA and Simon AC. Peripheral large arteries and the response to antihypertensive treatment. *Hypertension*. 1983;5:III63-8.
- 50. Avolio AP, Van Bortel LM, Boutouyrie P, Cockcroft JR, McEniery CM, Protogerou AD, Roman MJ, Safar ME, Segers P and Smulyan H. Role of pulse pressure amplification in arterial hypertension: experts' opinion and review of the data. *Hypertension*. 2009;54:375-83.
- 51. Williams B, Lacy PS, Thom SM, Cruickshank K, Stanton A, Collier D, Hughes AD, Thurston H and O'Rourke M. Differential impact of blood pressure-lowering drugs on central aortic pressure and clinical outcomes: principal results of the Conduit Artery Function Evaluation (CAFE) study. *Circulation*. 2006;113:1213-25.
- Mackenzie IS, McEniery CM, Dhakam Z, Brown MJ, Cockcroft JR and Wilkinson IB. Comparison of the effects of antihypertensive agents on central blood pressure and arterial stiffness in isolated systolic hypertension. *Hypertension*. 2009;54:409-13.
- 53. Morgan T, Lauri J, Bertram D and Anderson A. Effect of different antihypertensive drug classes on central aortic pressure. *Am J Hypertens*. 2004;17:118-23.
- 54. Asmar RG, London GM, O'Rourke ME and Safar ME. Improvement in blood pressure, arterial stiffness and wave reflections with a very-low-dose perindopril/indapamide combination in hypertensive patient: a comparison with atenolol. *Hypertension*. 2001;38:922-6.
- 55. Deary AJ, Schumann AL, Murfet H, Haydock S, Foo RS and Brown MJ. Influence of drugs and gender on the arterial pulse wave and natriuretic peptide secretion in untreated patients with essential hypertension. *Clin Sci (Lond)*. 2002;103:493-9.
- Hashimoto J, Imai Y and O'Rourke MF. Indices of pulse wave analysis are better predictors of left ventricular mass reduction than cuff pressure. *Am J Hypertens*. 2007;20:378-84.
- 57. Mitchell GF. Effects of central arterial aging on the structure and function of the peripheral vasculature: implications for end-organ damage. *J Appl Physiol*. 2008;105:1652-60.
- 58. Hope SA, Tay DB, Meredith IT and Cameron JD. Waveform dispersion, not reflection, may be the major determinant of aortic pressure wave morphology. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2005;289:H2497-502.
- Davies JE, Alastruey J, Francis DP, Hadjiloizou N, Whinnett ZI, Manisty CH,
 Aguado-Sierra J, Willson K, Foale RA, Malik IS, Hughes AD, Parker KH and Mayet

J. Attenuation of wave reflection by wave entrapment creates a "horizon effect" in the human aorta. *Hypertension*. 2012;60:778-85.

- 60. Hughes AD, Park C, Davies J, Francis D, Mc GTSA, Mayet J and Parker KH. Limitations of augmentation index in the assessment of wave reflection in normotensive healthy individuals. *PloS one*. 2013;8:e59371.
- Segers P, Rietzschel ER, De Buyzere ML, De Bacquer D, Van Bortel LM, De Backer G, Gillebert TC and Verdonck PR. Assessment of pressure wave reflection: getting the timing right! *Physiological measurement*. 2007;28:1045-56.
- 62. Davies JE, Baksi J, Francis DP, Hadjiloizou N, Whinnett ZI, Manisty CH, Aguado-Sierra J, Foale RA, Malik IS, Tyberg JV, Parker KH, Mayet J and Hughes AD. The arterial reservoir pressure increases with aging and is the major determinant of the aortic augmentation index. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2010;298:H580-6.
- Cecelja M, Jiang B, Spector TD and Chowienczyk P. Progression of central pulse pressure over 1 decade of aging and its reversal by nitroglycerin a twin study. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2012;59:475-83.
- 64. Wilkinson IB, MacCallum H, Flint L, Cockcroft JR, Newby DE and Webb DJ. The influence of heart rate on augmentation index and central arterial pressure in humans. *J Physiol.* 2000;525 Pt 1:263-70.
- 65. Smulyan H, Marchais SJ, Pannier B, Guerin AP, Safar ME and London GM.
 Influence of body height on pulsatile arterial hemodynamic data. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1998;31:1103-9.
- 66. Chirinos JA, Kips JG, Roman MJ, Medina-Lezama J, Li Y, Woodiwiss AJ, Norton GR, Yasmin, Van Bortel L, Wang JG, Cockcroft JR, Devereux RB, Wilkinson IB, Segers P and McEniery CM. Ethnic differences in arterial wave reflections and normative equations for augmentation index. *Hypertension*. 2011;57:1108-16.
- 67. Schultz MG, Davies JE, Roberts-Thomson P, Black JA, Hughes AD and Sharman JE. Exercise central (aortic) blood pressure is predominantly driven by forward traveling waves, not wave reflection. *Hypertension*. 2013;62:175-82.
- 68. Sharman JE, Davies JE, Jenkins C and Marwick TH. Augmentation index, left ventricular contractility, and wave reflection. *Hypertension*. 2009;54:1099-105.
- Langenberg C, Hardy R, Kuh D and Wadsworth ME. Influence of height, leg and trunk length on pulse pressure, systolic and diastolic blood pressure. *Journal of hypertension*. 2003;21:537-43.

- 70. Segers P and Verdonck P. Role of tapering in aortic wave reflection: hydraulic and mathematical model study. *J Biomech*. 2000;33:299-306.
- 71. Cecelja M, Jiang B, McNeill K, Kato B, Ritter J, Spector T and Chowienczyk P. Increased wave reflection rather than central arterial stiffness is the main determinant of raised pulse pressure in women and relates to mismatch in arterial dimensions: a twin study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;54:695-703.
- 72. Murgo JP, Westerhof N, Giolma JP and Altobelli SA. Aortic input impedance in normal man: relationship to pressure wave forms. *Circulation*. 1980;62:105-16.
- 73. Kelly R, Hayward C, Avolio A and O'Rourke M. Noninvasive determination of agerelated changes in the human arterial pulse. *Circulation*. 1989;80:1652-9.
- 74. London GM, Guerin AP, Pannier B, Marchais SJ and Stimpel M. Influence of sex on arterial hemodynamics and blood pressure. Role of body height. *Hypertension*. 1995;26:514-9.
- 75. Saba PS, Roman MJ, Pini R, Spitzer M, Ganau A and Devereux RB. Relation of arterial pressure waveform to left ventricular and carotid anatomy in normotensive subjects. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1993;22:1873-80.
- 76. Russo C, Jin Z, Palmieri V, Homma S, Rundek T, Elkind MS, Sacco RL and Di Tullio MR. Arterial stiffness and wave reflection: sex differences and relationship with left ventricular diastolic function. *Hypertension*. 2012;60:362-8.
- T. Lieber A, Millasseau S, Bourhis L, Blacher J, Protogerou A, Levy BI and Safar ME.
 Aortic wave reflection in women and men. *Am J Physiol-Heart C*. 2010;299:H236-H242.
- 78. Manisty C, Mayet J, Tapp RJ, Parker KH, Sever P, Poulter NR, Thom SA and Hughes AD. Wave reflection predicts cardiovascular events in hypertensive individuals independent of blood pressure and other cardiovascular risk factors: an ASCOT (Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcome Trial) substudy. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2010;56:24-30.
- 79. Hashimoto J, Imai Y and O'Rourke MF. Monitoring of antihypertensive therapy for reduction in left ventricular mass. *Am J Hypertens*. 2007;20:1229-33.
- Safar ME, Blacher J, Pannier B, Guerin AP, Marchais SJ, Guyonvarc'h PM and London GM. Central pulse pressure and mortality in end-stage renal disease. *Hypertension*. 2002;39:735-8.

- Benetos A, Thomas F, Joly L, Blacher J, Pannier B, Labat C, Salvi P, Smulyan H and Safar ME. Pulse pressure amplification a mechanical biomarker of cardiovascular risk. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2010;55:1032-7.
- 82. Salvi P, Safar ME, Labat C, Borghi C, Lacolley P and Benetos A. Heart disease and changes in pulse wave velocity and pulse pressure amplification in the elderly over 80 years: the PARTAGE Study. *Journal of hypertension*. 2010;28:2127-33.
- 83. Sharman JE, McEniery CM, Dhakam ZR, Coombes JS, Wilkinson IB and Cockcroft JR. Pulse pressure amplification during exercise is significantly reduced with age and hypercholesterolemia. *Journal of hypertension*. 2007;25:1249-54.
- 84. Hamilton WF. The patterns of the arterial pressure pulse. *Am J Physiol*. 1944;141:0235-0241.
- Fitchett DH, Simkus GJ, Genest JJ, Marpole DG and Beaudry JP. The Effect of Nitroglycerin on Left-Ventricular Pulsatile Load. *Circulation*. 1986;74:455-455.
- 86. Pauca AL, Kon ND and O'Rourke MF. Benefit of glyceryl trinitrate on arterial stiffness is directly due to effects on peripheral arteries. *Heart*. 2005;91:1428-32.
- Ting CT, Brin KP, Lin SJ, Wang SP, Chang MS, Chiang BN and Yin FC. Arterial hemodynamics in human hypertension. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 1986;78:1462-71.
- Kelly RP, Millasseau SC, Ritter JM and Chowienczyk PJ. Vasoactive drugs influence aortic augmentation index independently of pulse-wave velocity in healthy men. *Hypertension*. 2001;37:1429-33.
- Latham RD, Westerhof N, Sipkema P, Rubal BJ, Reuderink P and Murgo JP. Regional wave travel and reflections along the human aorta: a study with six simultaneous micromanometric pressures. *Circulation*. 1985;72:1257-69.
- Orourke MF and Taylor MG. Vascular Impedance of Femoral Bed. *Circ Res.* 1966;18:126-&.
- Westerhof BE, van den Wijngaard JP, Murgo JP and Westerhof N. Location of a reflection site is elusive: consequences for the calculation of aortic pulse wave velocity. *Hypertension*. 2008;52:478-83.
- 92. Karamanoglu M, Gallagher DE, Avolio AP and O'Rourke MF. Functional origin of reflected pressure waves in a multibranched model of the human arterial system. *Am J Physiol.* 1994;267:H1681-8.

- 93. Davies JE, Hadjiloizou N, Leibovich D, Malaweera A, Alastruey J, Whinnett ZI, Manisty CH, Francis DP, Aguado-Sierra J, Foale RA, Malik IS, Parker KH, Mayet J and Hughes AD. Importance of the aortic reservoir in determining the shape of the arterial pressure waveform - The forgotten lessons of Frank. *Artery Research*. 2007;1:40-45.
- 94. Westerhof N, Lankhaar JW and Westerhof BE. The arterial Windkessel. *Med Biol Eng Comput.* 2009;47:131-41.
- 95. Chirinos JA and Segers P. Noninvasive evaluation of left ventricular afterload: part 2: arterial pressure-flow and pressure-volume relations in humans. *Hypertension*. 2010;56:563-70.
- Mitchell GF. Clinical achievements of impedance analysis. *Med Biol Eng Comput.* 2009;47:153-63.
- 97. Wang JJ, O'Brien AB, Shrive NG, Parker KH and Tyberg JV. Time-domain representation of ventricular-arterial coupling as a windkessel and wave system. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2003;284:H1358-68.
- 98. Hughes AD, Davies JE and Parker KH. The importance of wave reflection: A comparison of wave intensity analysis and separation of pressure into forward and backward components. *Conference proceedings : Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society Conference*. 2013;2013:229-32.
- 99. Hametner B, Wassertheurer S, Kropf J, Mayer C, Holzinger A, Eber B and Weber T.
 Wave reflection quantification based on pressure waveforms alone--methods, comparison, and clinical covariates. *Computer methods and programs in biomedicine*. 2013;109:250-9.
- 100. Mynard JP, Penny DJ, Davidson MR and Smolich JJ. The reservoir-wave paradigm introduces error into arterial wave analysis: a computer modelling and in-vivo study. *Journal of hypertension*. 2012;30:734-43.
- Hametner B, Wassertheurer S, Hughes AD, Parker KH, Weber T and Eber B. Reservoir and excess pressures predict cardiovascular events in high-risk patients. *International journal of cardiology*. 2014;171:31-6.
- Sever PS, Poulter NR, Elliott WJ, Jonsson MC and Black HR. Blood pressure reduction is not the only determinant of outcome. *Circulation*. 2006;113:2754-72; discussion 2773-4.

- 103. Dawes M, Brett SE, Chowienczyk PJ, Mant TG and Ritter JM. The vasodilator action of nebivolol in forearm vasculature of subjects with essential hypertension. *British journal of clinical pharmacology*. 1999;48:460-3.
- 104. van der Zander K, Houben AJ, Kroon AA, De Mey JG, Smits PA and de Leeuw PW. Nitric oxide and potassium channels are involved in brain natriuretic peptide induced vasodilatation in man. *Journal of hypertension*. 2002;20:493-9.
- 105. Collier JG, Lorge RE and Robinson BF. Comparison of effects of tolmesoxide (RX71107), diazoxide, hydrallazine, prazosin, glyceryl trinitrate and sodium nitroprusside on forearm arteries and dorsal hand veins of man. *British journal of clinical pharmacology*. 1978;5:35-44.
- 106. Benjamin N, Cockcroft JR, Collier JG, Dollery CT, Ritter JM and Webb DJ. Local inhibition of converting enzyme and vascular responses to angiotensin and bradykinin in the human forearm. *J Physiol.* 1989;412:543-55.
- 107. Robinson BF, Dobbs RJ and Kelsey CR. Effects of nifedipine on resistance vessels, arteries and veins in man. *British journal of clinical pharmacology*. 1980;10:433-8.
- 108. Izzo JL, Jr., Levy D and Black HR. Clinical Advisory Statement. Importance of systolic blood pressure in older Americans. *Hypertension*. 2000;35:1021-4.
- 109. Bejan-Angoulvant T, Saadatian-Elahi M, Wright JM, Schron EB, Lindholm LH, Fagard R, Staessen JA and Gueyffier F. Treatment of hypertension in patients 80 years and older: the lower the better? A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of hypertension*. 2010;28:1366-72.
- 110. Zieman SJ, Melenovsky V and Kass DA. Mechanisms, pathophysiology, and therapy of arterial stiffness. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*. 2005;25:932-43.
- 111. Greenwald SE. Ageing of the conduit arteries. *The Journal of pathology*. 2007;211:157-72.
- 112. Boutouyrie P, Laurent S, Benetos A, Girerd XJ, Hoeks AP and Safar ME. Opposing effects of ageing on distal and proximal large arteries in hypertensives. *Journal of hypertension Supplement : official journal of the International Society of Hypertension*. 1992;10:S87-91.
- 113. Kawasaki T, Sasayama S, Yagi S, Asakawa T and Hirai T. Non-invasive assessment of the age related changes in stiffness of major branches of the human arteries. *Cardiovascular research*. 1987;21:678-87.

- 114. Benetos A, Laurent S, Hoeks AP, Boutouyrie PH and Safar ME. Arterial alterations with aging and high blood pressure. A noninvasive study of carotid and femoral arteries. *Arteriosclerosis and thrombosis : a journal of vascular biology / American Heart Association*. 1993;13:90-7.
- 115. Gillessen T, Gillessen F, Sieberth H, Hanrath P and Heintz B. Age-related changes in the elastic properties of the aortic tree in normotensive patients: investigation by intravascular ultrasound. *European journal of medical research*. 1995;1:144-8.
- 116. Jiang XJ, O'Rourke MF, Jin WQ, Liu LS, Li CW, Tai PC, Zhang XC and Liu SZ. Quantification of glyceryl trinitrate effect through analysis of the synthesised ascending aortic pressure waveform. *Heart*. 2002;88:143-8.
- 117. Vlachopoulos C, Aznaouridis K and Stefanadis C. Prediction of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality with arterial stiffness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2010;55:1318-27.
- 118. Ben-Shlomo Y, Spears M, Boustred C, May M, Anderson SG, Benjamin EJ, Boutouyrie P, Cameron J, Chen CH, Cruickshank JK, Hwang SJ, Lakatta EG, Laurent S, Maldonado J, Mitchell GF, Najjar SS, Newman AB, Ohishi M, Pannier B, Pereira T, Vasan RS, Shokawa T, Sutton-Tyrell K, Verbeke F, Wang KL, Webb DJ, Willum Hansen T, Zoungas S, McEniery CM, Cockcroft JR and Wilkinson IB. Aortic pulse wave velocity improves cardiovascular event prediction: an individual participant meta-analysis of prospective observational data from 17,635 subjects. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2014;63:636-46.
- Wilkinson IB and McEniery CM. Arterial stiffness, endothelial function and novel pharmacological approaches. *Clinical and experimental pharmacology & physiology*. 2004;31:795-9.
- 120. Cecelja M, Jiang B, Bevan L, Frost ML, Spector TD and Chowienczyk PJ. Arterial stiffening relates to arterial calcification but not to noncalcified atheroma in women. A twin study. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2011;57:1480-6.
- 121. Ge D, Young TW, Wang X, Kapuku GK, Treiber FA and Snieder H. Heritability of arterial stiffness in black and white American youth and young adults. *Am J Hypertens*. 2007;20:1065-72.
- 122. O'Donnell CJ, Chazaro I, Wilson PW, Fox C, Hannan MT, Kiel DP and Cupples LA. Evidence for heritability of abdominal aortic calcific deposits in the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. 2002;106:337-41.

- 123. Cecelja M and Chowienczyk P. Dissociation of aortic pulse wave velocity with risk factors for cardiovascular disease other than hypertension: a systematic review. *Hypertension*. 2009;54:1328-36.
- 124. van der Loo B, Labugger R, Skepper JN, Bachschmid M, Kilo J, Powell JM, Palacios-Callender M, Erusalimsky JD, Quaschning T, Malinski T, Gygi D, Ullrich V and Luscher TF. Enhanced peroxynitrite formation is associated with vascular aging. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. 2000;192:1731-44.
- 125. Mollnau H, Wendt M, Szocs K, Lassegue B, Schulz E, Oelze M, Li H, Bodenschatz M, August M, Kleschyov AL, Tsilimingas N, Walter U, Forstermann U, Meinertz T, Griendling K and Munzel T. Effects of angiotensin II infusion on the expression and function of NAD(P)H oxidase and components of nitric oxide/cGMP signaling. *Circ Res.* 2002;90:E58-65.
- 126. Usui M, Egashira K, Tomita H, Koyanagi M, Katoh M, Shimokawa H, Takeya M, Yoshimura T, Matsushima K and Takeshita A. Important role of local angiotensin II activity mediated via type 1 receptor in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular inflammatory changes induced by chronic blockade of nitric oxide synthesis in rats. *Circulation*. 2000;101:305-10.
- 127. Kato H, Suzuki H, Tajima S, Ogata Y, Tominaga T, Sato A and Saruta T. Angiotensin II stimulates collagen synthesis in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. *Journal of hypertension*. 1991;9:17-22.
- Gibbons GH, Pratt RE and Dzau VJ. Vascular smooth muscle cell hypertrophy vs. hyperplasia. Autocrine transforming growth factor-beta 1 expression determines growth response to angiotensin II. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 1992;90:456-61.
- 129. Blacher J, Amah G, Girerd X, Kheder A, Ben Mais H, London GM and Safar ME. Association between increased plasma levels of aldosterone and decreased systemic arterial compliance in subjects with essential hypertension. *Am J Hypertens*. 1997;10:1326-34.
- Gu JW, Anand V, Shek EW, Moore MC, Brady AL, Kelly WC and Adair TH. Sodium induces hypertrophy of cultured myocardial myoblasts and vascular smooth muscle cells. *Hypertension*. 1998;31:1083-7.

- 131. Draaijer P, Kool MJ, Maessen JM, van Bortel LM, de Leeuw PW, van Hooff JP and Leunissen KM. Vascular distensibility and compliance in salt-sensitive and saltresistant borderline hypertension. *Journal of hypertension*. 1993;11:1199-207.
- Partovian C, Benetos A, Pommies JP, Mischler W and Safar ME. Effects of a chronic high-salt diet on large artery structure: role of endogenous bradykinin. *Am J Physiol*. 1998;274:H1423-8.
- 133. Powell JT, Vine N and Crossman M. On the accumulation of D-aspartate in elastin and other proteins of the ageing aorta. *Atherosclerosis*. 1992;97:201-8.
- 134. Ichihara A, Hayashi M, Koura Y, Tada Y, Hirota N and Saruta T. Long-term effects of intensive blood-pressure lowering on arterial wall stiffness in hypertensive patients. *Am J Hypertens*. 2003;16:959-65.
- 135. Mitchell GF, Lacourciere Y, Arnold JM, Dunlap ME, Conlin PR and Izzo JL, Jr. Changes in aortic stiffness and augmentation index after acute converting enzyme or vasopeptidase inhibition. *Hypertension*. 2005;46:1111-7.
- 136. Mitchell GF, Izzo JL, Jr., Lacourciere Y, Ouellet JP, Neutel J, Qian C, Kerwin LJ, Block AJ and Pfeffer MA. Omapatrilat reduces pulse pressure and proximal aortic stiffness in patients with systolic hypertension: results of the conduit hemodynamics of omapatrilat international research study. *Circulation*. 2002;105:2955-61.
- 137. Topouchian J, Brisac AM, Pannier B, Vicaut E, Safar M and Asmar R. Assessment of the acute arterial effects of converting enzyme inhibition in essential hypertension: a double-blind, comparative and crossover study. *Journal of human hypertension*. 1998;12:181-7.
- 138. Karalliedde J, Smith A, DeAngelis L, Mirenda V, Kandra A, Botha J, Ferber P and Viberti G. Valsartan improves arterial stiffness in type 2 diabetes independently of blood pressure lowering. *Hypertension*. 2008;51:1617-23.
- 139. Dhaun N, Macintyre IM, Melville V, Lilitkarntakul P, Johnston NR, Goddard J and Webb DJ. Blood pressure-independent reduction in proteinuria and arterial stiffness after acute endothelin-a receptor antagonism in chronic kidney disease. *Hypertension*. 2009;54:113-9.
- 140. Kithas PA and Supiano MA. Spironolactone and hydrochlorothiazide decrease vascular stiffness and blood pressure in geriatric hypertension. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2010;58:1327-32.

- 141. Davies J, Gavin A, Band M, Morris A and Struthers A. Spironolactone reduces brachial pulse wave velocity and PIIINP levels in hypertensive diabetic patients. *British journal of clinical pharmacology*. 2005;59:520-3.
- 142. Vlachopoulos C, Hirata K and O'Rourke MF. Effect of sildenafil on arterial stiffness and wave reflection. *Vasc Med.* 2003;8:243-8.
- 143. Ichihara A, Hayashi M, Ryuzaki M, Handa M, Furukawa T and Saruta T. Fluvastatin prevents development of arterial stiffness in haemodialysis patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association.* 2002;17:1513-7.
- 144. Kass DA, Shapiro EP, Kawaguchi M, Capriotti AR, Scuteri A, deGroof RC and Lakatta EG. Improved arterial compliance by a novel advanced glycation end-product crosslink breaker. *Circulation*. 2001;104:1464-70.
- 145. Zieman SJ, Melenovsky V, Clattenburg L, Corretti MC, Capriotti A, Gerstenblith G and Kass DA. Advanced glycation endproduct crosslink breaker (alagebrium) improves endothelial function in patients with isolated systolic hypertension. *Journal* of hypertension. 2007;25:577-83.
- 146. Yaginuma T, Avolio A, O'Rourke M, Nichols W, Morgan JJ, Roy P, Baron D, Branson J and Feneley M. Effect of glyceryl trinitrate on peripheral arteries alters left ventricular hydraulic load in man. *Cardiovascular research*. 1986;20:153-60.
- 147. Van Bortel LM, Spek JJ, Balkestein EJ, Sardina M and Struijker Boudier HA. Is it possible to develop drugs that act more selectively on large arteries? *Journal of hypertension*. 1999;17:701-5.
- 148. Julius S, Kjeldsen SE, Weber M, Brunner HR, Ekman S, Hansson L, Hua T, Laragh J, McInnes GT, Mitchell L, Plat F, Schork A, Smith B and Zanchetti A. Outcomes in hypertensive patients at high cardiovascular risk treated with regimens based on valsartan or amlodipine: the VALUE randomised trial. *Lancet*. 2004;363:2022-31.
- 149. Binkley PF, Van Fossen DB, Nunziata E, Unverferth DV and Leier CV. Influence of positive inotropic therapy on pulsatile hydraulic load and ventricular-vascular coupling in congestive heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1990;15:1127-35.
- 150. Nichols WW, O'Rourke MF, Avolio AP, Yaginuma T, Pepine CJ and Conti CR. Ventricular/vascular interaction in patients with mild systemic hypertension and normal peripheral resistance. *Circulation*. 1986;74:455-62.

- 151. Safar ME and London GM. Therapeutic studies and arterial stiffness in hypertension: recommendations of the European Society of Hypertension. The Clinical Committee of Arterial Structure and Function. Working Group on Vascular Structure and Function of the European Society of Hypertension. *Journal of hypertension*. 2000;18:1527-35.
- 152. Shimokawa H, Yasutake H, Fujii K, Owada MK, Nakaike R, Fukumoto Y, Takayanagi T, Nagao T, Egashira K, Fujishima M and Takeshita A. The importance of the hyperpolarizing mechanism increases as the vessel size decreases in endothelium-dependent relaxations in rat mesenteric circulation. *Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology*. 1996;28:703-11.
- 153. Joannides R, Richard V, Haefeli WE, Linder L, Luscher TF and Thuillez C. Role of basal and stimulated release of nitric oxide in the regulation of radial artery caliber in humans. *Hypertension*. 1995;26:327-31.
- 154. Bellien J, Joannides R, Iacob M, Arnaud P and Thuillez C. Calcium-activated potassium channels and NO regulate human peripheral conduit artery mechanics. *Hypertension*. 2005;46:210-6.
- 155. Simon AC, Levenson JA, Levy BY, Bouthier JE, Peronneau PP and Safar ME. Effect of nitroglycerin on peripheral large arteries in hypertension. *British journal of clinical pharmacology*. 1982;14:241-6.
- 156. Richer C, Thuillez C and Giudicelli JF. Perindopril, converting enzyme blockade, and peripheral arterial hemodynamics in the healthy volunteer. *Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology*. 1987;9:94-102.
- 157. Maarek BL, Bouthier JA, Simon AC, Levenson JA and Safar ME. Comparative effects of propranolol and pindolol on small and large arteries and veins of the forearm circulation in hypertensive man. *Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology*. 1986;8 Suppl 4:S61-6.
- Layland J, Li JM and Shah AM. Role of cyclic GMP-dependent protein kinase in the contractile response to exogenous nitric oxide in rat cardiac myocytes. *J Physiol*. 2002;540:457-67.
- 159. Paulus WJ, Vantrimpont PJ and Shah AM. Acute effects of nitric oxide on left ventricular relaxation and diastolic distensibility in humans. Assessment by bicoronary sodium nitroprusside infusion. *Circulation*. 1994;89:2070-8.

- Wille HH, Sauer G, Tebbe U, Neuhaus KL and Kreuzer H. Nitroglycerin and afterload: effects of aortic compliance and capacity of the Windkessel. *Eur Heart J*. 1980;1:445-52.
- 161. O'Brien E, Asmar R, Beilin L, Imai Y, Mallion JM, Mancia G, Mengden T, Myers M, Padfield P, Palatini P, Parati G, Pickering T, Redon J, Staessen J, Stergiou G and Verdecchia P. European Society of Hypertension recommendations for conventional, ambulatory and home blood pressure measurement. *Journal of hypertension*. 2003;21:821-48.
- 162. Benjamin N, Calver A, Collier J, Robinson B, Vallance P and Webb D. Measuring forearm blood flow and interpreting the responses to drugs and mediators. *Hypertension*. 1995;25:918-23.
- 163. Wilkinson IB and Webb DJ. Venous occlusion plethysmography in cardiovascular research: methodology and clinical applications. *British journal of clinical pharmacology*. 2001;52:631-46.
- 164. Whitney RJ. The measurement of volume changes in human limbs. *J Physiol*. 1953;121:1-27.
- 165. Lind AR and Schmid PG. Comparison of volume and strain-gauge plethysmography during static effort. *J Appl Physiol*. 1972;32:552-4.
- Hokanson DE, Sumner DS and Strandness DE, Jr. An electrically calibrated plethysmograph for direct measurement of limb blood flow. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*. 1975;22:25-9.
- 167. Kerslake DM. The effect of the application of an arterial occlusion cuff to the wrist on the blood flow in the human forearm. *J Physiol*. 1949;108:451-7.
- 168. Chen CH, Ting CT, Nussbacher A, Nevo E, Kass DA, Pak P, Wang SP, Chang MS and Yin FC. Validation of carotid artery tonometry as a means of estimating augmentation index of ascending aortic pressure. *Hypertension*. 1996;27:168-75.
- 169. Kelly R, Daley J, Avolio A and O'Rourke M. Arterial dilation and reduced wave reflection. Benefit of dilevalol in hypertension. *Hypertension*. 1989;14:14-21.
- 170. Dart AM, Gatzka CD, Kingwell BA, Willson K, Cameron JD, Liang YL, Berry KL, Wing LM, Reid CM, Ryan P, Beilin LJ, Jennings GL, Johnston CI, McNeil JJ, Macdonald GJ, Morgan TO and West MJ. Brachial blood pressure but not carotid arterial waveforms predict cardiovascular events in elderly female hypertensives. *Hypertension*. 2006;47:785-90.

- 171. Segers P, Mahieu D, Kips J, Rietzschel E, De Buyzere M, De Bacquer D, Bekaert S, De Backer G, Gillebert T, Verdonck P and Van Bortel L. Amplification of the pressure pulse in the upper limb in healthy, middle-aged men and women. *Hypertension*. 2009;54:414-20.
- 172. Parker KH. An introduction to wave intensity analysis. *Med Biol Eng Comput.* 2009;47:175-88.
- 173. Davies JE, Whinnett ZI, Francis DP, Willson K, Foale RA, Malik IS, Hughes AD, Parker KH and Mayet J. Use of simultaneous pressure and velocity measurements to estimate arterial wave speed at a single site in humans. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 2006;290:H878-85.
- 174. Hughes AD and Parker KH. Forward and backward waves in the arterial system: impedance or wave intensity analysis? *Med Biol Eng Comput.* 2009;47:207-10.
- 175. Franklin SS, Lopez VA, Wong ND, Mitchell GF, Larson MG, Vasan RS and Levy D. Single versus combined blood pressure components and risk for cardiovascular disease: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. 2009;119:243-50.
- 176. Lakatta EG and Levy D. Arterial and cardiac aging: major shareholders in cardiovascular disease enterprises: Part I: aging arteries: a "set up" for vascular disease. *Circulation*. 2003;107:139-46.
- 177. Laurent S and Boutouyrie P. Recent advances in arterial stiffness and wave reflection in human hypertension. *Hypertension*. 2007;49:1202-6.
- 178. Stewart AD, Millasseau SC, Kearney MT, Ritter JM and Chowienczyk PJ. Effects of inhibition of basal nitric oxide synthesis on carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity and augmentation index in humans. *Hypertension*. 2003;42:915-8.
- Safar ME, Levy BI and Struijker-Boudier H. Current perspectives on arterial stiffness and pulse pressure in hypertension and cardiovascular diseases. *Circulation*. 2003;107:2864-9.
- Kurz MA, Lamping KG, Bates JN, Eastham CL, Marcus ML and Harrison DG. Mechanisms responsible for the heterogeneous coronary microvascular response to nitroglycerin. *Circ Res.* 1991;68:847-55.
- 181. Mitchell GF, Lacourciere Y, Ouellet JP, Izzo JL, Jr., Neutel J, Kerwin LJ, Block AJ and Pfeffer MA. Determinants of elevated pulse pressure in middle-aged and older subjects with uncomplicated systolic hypertension: the role of proximal aortic diameter and the aortic pressure-flow relationship. *Circulation*. 2003;108:1592-8.

- 182. Zolle O, Lawrie AM and Simpson AW. Activation of the particulate and not the soluble guanylate cyclase leads to the inhibition of Ca2+ extrusion through localized elevation of cGMP. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2000;275:25892-9.
- 183. Su J, Scholz PM and Weiss HR. Differential effects of cGMP produced by soluble and particulate guanylyl cyclase on mouse ventricular myocytes. *Exp Biol Med* (*Maywood*). 2005;230:242-50.
- Davis MJ and Hill MA. Signaling mechanisms underlying the vascular myogenic response. *Physiological reviews*. 1999;79:387-423.
- 185. Wellman GC, Bonev AD, Nelson MT and Brayden JE. Gender differences in coronary artery diameter involve estrogen, nitric oxide, and Ca(2+)-dependent K+ channels. *Circ Res.* 1996;79:1024-30.
- 186. Kinlay S, Creager MA, Fukumoto M, Hikita H, Fang JC, Selwyn AP and Ganz P. Endothelium-derived nitric oxide regulates arterial elasticity in human arteries in vivo. *Hypertension*. 2001;38:1049-53.
- 187. Bank AJ, Kaiser DR, Rajala S and Cheng A. In vivo human brachial artery elastic mechanics: effects of smooth muscle relaxation. *Circulation*. 1999;100:41-7.
- 188. Bank AJ, Wang H, Holte JE, Mullen K, Shammas R and Kubo SH. Contribution of collagen, elastin, and smooth muscle to in vivo human brachial artery wall stress and elastic modulus. *Circulation*. 1996;94:3263-70.
- 189. Westerhof N and O'Rourke MF. Haemodynamic basis for the development of left ventricular failure in systolic hypertension and for its logical therapy. *Journal of hypertension*. 1995;13:943-52.
- 190. Duchier J, Iannascoli F and Safar M. Antihypertensive effect of sustained-release isosorbide dinitrate for isolated systolic systemic hypertension in the elderly. *The American journal of cardiology*. 1987;60:99-102.
- 191. Stokes GS, Bune AJ, Huon N and Barin ES. Long-term effectiveness of extended-release nitrate for the treatment of systolic hypertension. *Hypertension*. 2005;45:380-4.
- 192. Roman MJ, Devereux RB, Kizer JR, Lee ET, Galloway JM, Ali T, Umans JG and Howard BV. Central pressure more strongly relates to vascular disease and outcome than does brachial pressure: the Strong Heart Study. *Hypertension*. 2007;50:197-203.
- 193. Westerhof N, Sipkema P, van den Bos GC and Elzinga G. Forward and backward waves in the arterial system. *Cardiovascular research*. 1972;6:648-56.

- 194. O'Rourke MF and Pauca AL. Augmentation of the aortic and central arterial pressure waveform. *Blood pressure monitoring*. 2004;9:179-85.
- 195. Penny DJ, Mynard JP and Smolich JJ. Aortic wave intensity analysis of ventricularvascular interaction during incremental dobutamine infusion in adult sheep. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2008;294:H481-9.
- 196. Fok H, Jiang B, Clapp B and Chowienczyk P. Regulation of vascular tone and pulse wave velocity in human muscular conduit arteries: selective effects of nitric oxide donors to dilate muscular arteries relative to resistance vessels. *Hypertension*. 2012;60:1220-5.
- 197. Latson TW, Hunter WC, Katoh N and Sagawa K. Effect of nitroglycerin on aortic impedance, diameter, and pulse-wave velocity. *Circ Res.* 1988;62:884-90.
- 198. Chirinos JA, Segers P, Gupta AK, Swillens A, Rietzschel ER, De Buyzere ML, Kirkpatrick JN, Gillebert TC, Wang Y, Keane MG, Townsend R, Ferrari VA, Wiegers SE and St John Sutton M. Time-varying myocardial stress and systolic pressure-stress relationship: role in myocardial-arterial coupling in hypertension. *Circulation*. 2009;119:2798-807.
- 199. Shah AM, Spurgeon HA, Sollott SJ, Talo A and Lakatta EG. 8-bromo-cGMP reduces the myofilament response to Ca2+ in intact cardiac myocytes. *Circ Res.* 1994;74:970-8.
- 200. Noonan PK and Benet LZ. Incomplete and delayed bioavailability of sublingual nitroglycerin. *The American journal of cardiology*. 1985;55:184-7.
- 201. Borlaug BA, Melenovsky V, Redfield MM, Kessler K, Chang HJ, Abraham TP and Kass DA. Impact of arterial load and loading sequence on left ventricular tissue velocities in humans. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2007;50:1570-7.
- Seddon M, Shah AM and Casadei B. Cardiomyocytes as effectors of nitric oxide signalling. *Cardiovascular research*. 2007;75:315-26.
- 203. Lakatta EG. Arterial and cardiac aging: major shareholders in cardiovascular disease enterprises: Part III: cellular and molecular clues to heart and arterial aging. *Circulation*. 2003;107:490-7.
- 204. Mitchell GF, Moye LA, Braunwald E, Rouleau JL, Bernstein V, Geltman EM, Flaker GC and Pfeffer MA. Sphygmomanometrically determined pulse pressure is a powerful independent predictor of recurrent events after myocardial infarction in

patients with impaired left ventricular function. SAVE investigators. Survival and Ventricular Enlargement. *Circulation*. 1997;96:4254-60.

- 205. Opie LH and Gersh BJ. Drugs for the heart. 7th ed. ed. Edinburgh: Saunders; 2009.
- 206. Pauca AL, O'Rourke MF and Kon ND. Prospective evaluation of a method for estimating ascending aortic pressure from the radial artery pressure waveform. *Hypertension*. 2001;38:932-7.
- 207. Maas JJ, Pinsky MR, de Wilde RB, de Jonge E and Jansen JR. Cardiac output response to norepinephrine in postoperative cardiac surgery patients: interpretation with venous return and cardiac function curves. *Crit Care Med*. 2013;41:143-50.
- 208. Mancia G, Grassi G, Giannattasio C and Seravalle G. Sympathetic activation in the pathogenesis of hypertension and progression of organ damage. *Hypertension*. 1999;34:724-8.
- 209. Monrad ES, McKay RG, Baim DS, Colucci WS, Fifer MA, Heller GV, Royal HD and Grossman W. Improvement in indexes of diastolic performance in patients with congestive heart failure treated with milrinone. *Circulation*. 1984;70:1030-7.
- Lester SJ, Tajik AJ, Nishimura RA, Oh JK, Khandheria BK and Seward JB. Unlocking the mysteries of diastolic function: deciphering the Rosetta Stone 10 years later. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2008;51:679-89.